"THE PRIME MINISTER SNATCHED MY WIFE": EXPERIENCES OF SEPARATED AND DIVORCED GHANAIAN IMMIGRANT MEN IN HAMILTON.

"THE PRIME MINISTER SNATCHED MY WIFE": EXPERIENCES OF SEPARATED AND DIVORCED GHANAIAN IMMIGRANT MEN IN HAMILTON.

By Nana B. Awuah-Gyau

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the award of the Degree Master of Social Work

McMaster University MASTER OF SOCIAL WORK (2025) Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: "The Prime Minister Snatched My Wife": Experiences of Separated and Divorced

Ghanaian Immigrant Men in Hamilton

AUTHOR: Nana Baffour Awuah-Gyau

SUPERVISOR: Prof. Mirna Carranza (PhD)

NUMBER OF PAGES: vii, 58

Abstract

This research investigates the experiences of Ghanaian immigrant men in Hamilton regarding the impact of family finances on their separation and divorce from their wives. Framed through critical, constructionist, and intersectional lenses, this study utilized phenomenological techniques to interview four participants purposefully selected from the Ghanaian community in Hamilton. Phenomenology guided the analysis of the data obtained from these interviews. The results reveal the phenomenon of immigrants sponsoring their spouses to immigrate to Canada, only to be divorced due to family financial challenges and the allure of welfare support from the State. The study illustrates how the intersection of welfare, state institutions, and acculturative stress contributes to the breakdown of immigrant families in Canada, resulting in some men adopting negative coping mechanisms like substance abuse to deal with the impact. The study shows that such people refuse to seek professional mental healthcare support because of their mistrust of the healthcare system.

Acknowledgements

This journey has been very difficult, filled with many ups and downs, but ONYANKONPON deserves praise for the gift of life. Indeed, if what is chasing you is not tired, you have no reason to stop. The will to be an example for my three kids, Obaapanin, Quodjo, and Sefiamor, has motivated me to fight on until now. My wife Yvette's prayers and support cannot be underestimated.

I am equally indebted to all my mothers; you shaped me.

I am indebted to my Supervisor, Prof. Mirna Carranza, who understood my situation and gave me a second chance to soldier on. Without your tutelage, I doubt if I would be here. Indeed, just like Newton, I could see afar because I stood on the shoulders of a giant who directed my path.

Finally, thank you to all humanitarian workers on the front lines of conflict for your sacrifices in helping people in dire need.

Table of Contents

Chapter One	1
Background and Context of the Study	2
Research Problem and Questions	3
Aims and Objectives of the Study	5
Importance of the Study	5
Theoretical Perspective	6
Chapter Two – Literature Review	11
History and Background of Ghanaians in Canada	11
Canadian Multiculturalism	12
Acculturation and Acculturative Stress	13
Models of Acculturation	14
Acculturative Stress	17
Factors Contributing to Acculturative Stress	17
Coping Mechanisms of Acculturative Stress	18
Transnationalism and Transnational Families	18
Marital Tensions Among Immigrants	22
Conflicts Caused by the Canada Child Benefits	23
The New Paradigm	24
Mental Health Problems Among Divorced Men	26
Chapter Three – Research Method	28
Recruitment Process	30
Description of Participants	31
Data Gathering	31
Interview Process	32
Data Analysis	32
Chapter Four – Results	34
Negotiating Couple Relations in New Country	34
Negotiating Household Finances	35
Domestic Chores	37
Private Expenses	37
Tensions from Household Expenses and Domestic Chores	38
End of the Financial Honeymoon	39
Tensions Emanating from Child Benefits	41
Transnationalism: Romance and Economic	41
Partner Selection and Marriage (Marriage of Inconvenience)	42
The Economics of Spousal ("Squirrel's Work")	43

Shift from Family Life to Singlehood	44
Behind Enemy Lines	45
The Ultimate Losers	46
Negative coping mechanisms/impact of Divorce on the men	48
Positive Coping Mechanisms	48
Service Seeking Habits of Divorced Men	49
Conclusion	50
Chapter Five: Discussion	51
Implication of Research on Policy, Service Delivery and Social Work	56
Limitations and Opportunities for Further Research	57
Epistemological Tensions	58
References	59
Appendixes	83

Chapter 1: Introduction

The marriage and family institution has undergone significant changes over recent decades due to the emergence and application of new and critical gender ideas and power dynamics within marriages. By applying power relations in the domestic production and consumption of goods and services, inherent patterns of unequal production and consumption between men and women in marriages and families have been revealed (Acosta et al., 2020; Cantillon, 2013; Chiapporri & Meghir, 2014; De Henau & Himmelweit, 2013; Himmelweit et al., 2013; Lindová et al., 2020; Lyonette & Crompton, 2015; Pepin & Cohen, 2021; Vargha et al., 2015). Gender norms have uniquely influenced this institution, although they differ across cultures and evolve within the same culture over time. Consequently, divorce, which was once a social rarity, has become increasingly common in Canada (Statistics Canada, 2022), accompanied by the emergence of new family structures (Alarie, 2023; Lyssen-Danneboom & Mortelmans, 2014).

According to Canada's 2021 population census data, most single-parent households with at least one child are headed by women. While this is consistent for both immigrant and non-immigrant families, it is more pronounced among immigrants. Women head 82.5% of such families compared to 75.5% among non-immigrants (Carpino, 2024). Although factors such as the death of a spouse, births outside of marriage, and individual adoption also contribute to single-parent families, previous data from Canada's Department of Justice (2022) suggest that only 23% of female-headed one-parent families were led by widows, while widowers accounted for 20% of male single-parent households. Additionally, according to census data, in the current context, children are more likely to experience the separation or divorce of their parents than the

death of a parent, as was the case in the past (Statistics Canada, 2017). Given that most immigrants to Canada come from countries with strong marriage and family values, it becomes imperative to explore why and how this group appears to lose their cultural and marriage values and norms after immigrating to Canada and dominating single-parent families.

In Canada and other Western countries, marriage is regarded as a significant factor that can impact an individual's overall health and financial well-being. Research on household finances has garnered considerable attention, although most studies have focused on Anglo-Saxon experiences (Derma-Moreno, 2009), while the situation of immigrants, particularly Africans, in Western countries has received less focus. Similarly, many studies within the domain focus on demonstrating the oppression of women in marriage. Given the dearth of theories and knowledge grounded in the experiences of African immigrants and men in dyadic relationships within the domestic economy, this research seeks to explore the experiences of Ghanaian immigrant men in Hamilton who have had to navigate tensions and divorce arising from financial difficulties within their families. The core objective of the study is to contribute to comprehensive and balanced theories, policies, and practices within the household economy, a field that is constantly evolving in its knowledge and subject matter.

This chapter introduces the study and provides background and context. It is followed by the research problem, aims and objectives, and the significance of the study. The chapter will also include my positionality and a description of marriage in Ghana. Finally, the theoretical framework underpinning this research will be presented.

Background and Context of the Study: Financial Negotiations in the Household

Over the years, the household economy has gained interest from researchers and practitioners, especially in how married couples make financial decisions. Many studies focus on gender's role in decision-making (Cantillon, 2013; De Henau & Himmelwei, 2013; Deutsch et al., 2003; Goode, 2010; Pahl, 2004, 2005; Tichenor, 1999, 2005). Others, like Pahl (1989) and Himmelweit et al. (2013), examine who benefits from household financial resources. Several studies, including Dema-Moreno (2009), Deutsch et al. (2003), Pahl (2004), Skogrand et al. (2011), and Pahl (2005), focus on financial decision-making around employment income and unpaid domestic work, mainly by women. The consensus is that men have more control, power, and influence, while women handle daily expenses due to socially attributed gender roles (Pahl, 2005; Goode, 2010; Deutsch et al., 2003; Dema-Moreno, 2009). Other research, including Goode (2010) and Dew (2008), shows women often carry most debts, while men utilise credits.

While Anglo-Saxon and Northern European experiences dominate the literature (Dema-Moreno, 2009), the experiences of couples from developing nations and immigrants, especially African immigrants, are missing. This prompts an enquiry into Ghanaian immigrant couples in Canada, focusing on family finances, Canada Child Benefits (CCB), and their effects on marital tensions, conflicts, and divorce- areas overlooked by social work academics and practitioners.

Anecdotal evidence suggests that traditional Ghanaian marriages, characterised by male financial control and breadwinning, persist even after migration to Canada, where dual-earner couples are the norm. Despite similar incomes, women expect their husbands to handle finances, and men expect their wives to do most of the unpaid domestic work. Academic research is often limited, focusing primarily on women's oppression and perspectives. Listening to male voices is

crucial for understanding the dynamics of gender power in immigrant families. Addressing this gap enhances knowledge of family finances and marital tension among immigrants in Canada.

Research Problem and Questions

In critical social thought, men are generally seen as holding all the power and privilege in society, beginning with the marriage and family unit. Consequently, the welfare state and its social protection policies often either exclude them or accord them little attention. However, it is important to ask: should the Black African immigrant man in a Western country be placed in the same pigeonhole as the powerful and privileged white heterosexual man?

Understanding the experiences and unique circumstances of African immigrant men in Canada will enhance the processes of theorizing, policy development, and implementation within the domestic economy, academia, and practice. Using the literature as a rough guide, I aim to isolate theories related to family finances and power dynamics in marriages. In this regard, the three key research questions for this work are: How do family finances influence tension and divorce among Ghanaian immigrants? The second question is: how does the interaction of immigrant couples with State agencies, the Welfare State, and family courts during separation and divorce shape the oppression of immigrant men? What unique mental health identity emerges from the phenomenon of divorce for immigrant Ghanaian men, and to what extent does this identity influence service-seeking habits?

In this endeavour, my goal was to understand and share the experiences of divorced Ghanaian immigrant men by talking to them about their journeys through marriage, separation, and divorce. I sought to explore how they managed their finances together and how money influenced their separation. During this process, I also sought to discover how they met their

spouses and the steps they took to form their marriages. I placed some importance on understanding how Ghanaian gender norms and values manifested within the context of Canadian multiculturalism. The aim was to assist Social Workers and Policymakers to recognize the broader factors affecting immigrant marriage power dynamics and the evolving cultural and gender values among Ghanaian immigrants. Consequently, there were compelling grounds for an inquiry into the mental health of divorced Ghanaian immigrant men and the factors shaping their interactions with the healthcare system in Canada.

Aims and Objectives of the Study

The overarching aim of this research was to bring to the fore the role of financial decision-making in marital tension, separation and divorce among Ghanaian immigrants.

Consequent to that, the following objectives became imperative:

- 1. Identify some of the mechanisms Ghanaian immigrants adopt for selecting a spouse and forming marriage within Canada's multicultural marriage market.
- 2. Explore the financial arrangements Ghanaian immigrant couples establish to manage their finances, the mechanics of these agreements and the inherent power dynamics.
- 3. Investigate the division of domestic labour between Ghanaian immigrant couples.
- 4. Identify the nature of marital tension and conflict emanating from the established financial and domestic arrangements. The objective was also to highlight the process of transition from family life to singlehood of these men.
- 5. Isolate aspects of the mental impacts of separation and divorce on immigrant men, their coping mechanisms and service-seeking habits.

Importance of the Study

Conceptually, this study introduces acculturation and transnationalism into the discussion on the household economy, weaving immigrants' experiences into the discourse. It also highlights the conflicts and tensions arising from immigrant household financial decision-making. This will help to fill gaps in existing theories on the subject, as current theories tend to focus on the nature and types of financial decisions while overlooking their impact on the marital dyad.

Focusing on the experiences of immigrant men also reveals how supposedly 'powerful' men experience oppression and the implications of these experiences on their mental health. The study further highlights some unintended consequences of the Canada Child Benefit (CCB) policy on immigrant families, offering insights into how the policy could be adjusted to ensure that Canadians accessing the scheme can maintain a healthy family life. Additionally, it emphasizes the challenges some immigrants encounter while navigating the complexities of Canada's immigration policy and the long-term impacts on family life.

Moreover, studying the experiences of Ghanaian immigrant men is essential because of the unique cultural backgrounds that enrich the text. Mensah and Williams (2013) and Firang (2011) have suggested that Ghanaian immigrants are highly active trans-migrants due to their family bonds and commitments, which form the basis of their identity. Such an experience constitutes a crucial component in any academic endeavour related to transnationalism and acculturation.

Theoretical Perspective

In this research, critical social theory (Deutsch, 2006; Fook, 2003; Nazroo et al., 2020; Neuman, 2011), social constructionism (Burr, 2015; Gergen, 1999, 2001), and anti-colonial

thought (Amediume, 2015; Guy-Sheftall, 2003; Nnaemeka, 1998) provide the foundation for understanding the experiences shared by participants. Critical framework serves as a basis for examining power imbalances in society and the oppressive nature of relationships, often characterized by disproportionate levels of power and privilege held by certain segments of society (Nazroo et al., 2020; Deutsch, 2006). Critical thought enjoins a challenge to all forms of dominance and oppression resulting from power imbalances across all facets of life (Fook, 2003; Nazroo et al., 2020). The emphasis is on how social structures and interpersonal relationships oppress individuals and groups within society (Nazroo et al., 2020; Neuman, 2011). Critical thought promotes the necessity for alternative perspectives that challenge and reshape dominant views through self-introspection, reflexivity, and interaction as pathways for creating transformative knowledge, particularly aimed at changing the status quo (Fook, 2003).

Moreover, in any social justice endeavor, the context of oppression or injustice is crucial and therefore essential to highlight the pyramidal interplay and influence of factors at the micro, meso and macro levels of society and vice versa, as opined by Pettigrew (2021) and Nazaroo et al. (2020). Guthridge et al. (2022) defined micro-level factors to include individual characteristics, such as biology, beliefs, behaviours, values, and emotions, such as empathy and resentment. They also highlight interpersonal interactions in families, at work, and in schools as meso-level factors, as well as broader social and cultural norms, including marriage, religion, and politics, as macro-level factors.

Social norms are rules and evaluative standards of behaviour and actions shared by people in any society or group. Society prescribes what is considered normal and acceptable, and deviating from such norms incurs strict opprobrium from members (Cislaghi & Heise, 2020),

even though these rules are often produced and reproduced randomly through interaction. These norms are passed on to the next generation through socialization. They are reinforced and/or contested within the family and marriage institution, as well as in the broader social context, through the education system, workplaces, religious institutions, the media, and other social institutions. Consequently, these institutions are embedded with these norms and continuously reproduce them. Therefore, the policies, rules, regulations, decision-making processes and biases are embodied in how they operate.

This work focuses on society's role in the disproportionate distribution of power and the concomitant oppression of less powerful segments. Consequently, the individual is not the focus of analysis; rather, it is the structures and institutions created by society that perpetuate injustice (Cislaghi & Heise, 2020; Fine, 2006; Opotow, 2002). Institutions are crucial in oppression, functioning at the meso-level between interpersonal and structural levels, where disadvantages and oppression are concentrated (Bailey et al., 2017; Emirbayer & Desmond, 2015). According to Nazaroo (2020), focusing on structures and institutions is vital because the legacies of historical epochs of colonialism, race-based slavery, and apartheid interact with contemporary processes of globalization, migration, and governance, which continue to shape and perpetuate the inequalities that hinder access to essential economic, physical, and social resources required for personal, familial, and generational living, growth, and progress.

The concept of intersectionality (Hankivsky & Cormier, 2011; Randles, 2022; Young, 2020), as applied in the design, implementation, and evaluation of social policy, informs this research. An intersectional perspective involves understanding how social locations relate to and interact with each other, intersecting and reinforcing one another to create a complex web of

oppression and domination, as well as privilege and power, for various groups and individuals. In the words of Hankivsky and Christoffersen (2008), an intersectional analysis "captures the complexity of lived experiences and concomitant, interacting factors of social inequity" (p. 272), which is crucial for appreciating the nuances of inequality.

The focus of an intersectional analysis is to isolate and address "the way specific acts and policies address the inequalities experienced by various social groups" (Bishwakarma et al., 2007, p. 9). This is achieved through a gaze on social identities, including race, class, sex, gender, ability, geography, immigration status, and age, which can interact and generate patterns of enduring unique meanings and complex experiences within and among groups (Hankivsky & Cormier, 2011). Immigrants' outcomes are influenced by systems of oppression and privilege at the intersection of migration pathways, sex, age, and gender. This phenomenon is evident in several key Canadian institutions, including educational exclusion, labour market inequality, and gendered racism encountered when accessing social services (Young, 2020).

A constructionist perspective encourages us to be critical of the taken-for-granted ways of appreciating the world, particularly ourselves (Burr, 2015), and to challenge conventional objective knowledge. Our understanding reflects the cultural, historical, social, and economic context in which we live, and interactions with others shape our conception of knowledge through language (Burr, 2015). Our current knowledge is a negotiated understanding of the world, taking various forms that trigger different social actions. The constructionist view challenges discourses that depict women as less powerful in heterosexual marriages, seeing such views as social constructs tied to specific times and cultures. It also highlights that human culture can be changed to promote fair gender power distribution. (Burr, 2015).

A decolonization discourse redefines African women as powerful within their families and communities, countering portrayals by classical anthropologists (Evans-Pritchard, 1940a, 1940b, 1948; Fortes, 2015, 2015b; Malinowski, 1927; Radcliff-Brown, 1952) which continue to influence academia. Such colonial perspectives are now seen as racist and ethnocentric by African feminists like Amediume (2015), Guy-Sheftall (2003), and Nnaemeka (1998). Amediume, an Igbo woman, argues that African women are powerful and use their strength to benefit their families, communities, and nations.

Across Black Africa, women influence culture, development, and emancipation through their roles as 'mothers' and the respect from men in daily societal struggles (Amediume, 2015), exemplified by Asante queens Nana Yaa Asantewaa (Arhin, 2000), Ama Serwaa of Juaben, and Ataa Birago of Kokofu, who were war heroines during the Asante resistance wars against the British, as well as Afua Kobi, who was an astute diplomat (Aidoo, 1977).

Amediume (1997) proposed shifting from typical critiques of European views on African culture to an anti-colonial discourse countering Western thought. Her idea is based on the Igbo word "Nzawalu," which means replying to someone in response to insults from that person. In her view, this engenders an accumulation of dialogic literature through various statements, postulations, responses, and conversations. My choice of the word 'peoples' or 'nation' serves as a repudiation of the derogatory anthropological terms 'ethnic' and 'tribe' due to their racist and ethnocentric roots, as succinctly described by Amediume (2015).

Chapter Two: Literature Review

In this chapter, I review the dominant ideas from the academy and practitioners regarding the history and background of Ghanaians in Canada, multiculturalism in Canada, acculturation and acculturative stress, as well as transnationalism and transnational families. Thereafter, I pay attention to the marital tensions among immigrants and the impact of divorce on men. Finally, the chapter looks at the new paradigm in household finances.

History and Background of Ghanaians in Canada

Ghanaians have historically migrated from their homes to seek better opportunities, escape wars, or after disputes over kingship. Colonialism and formal education fostered rural-urban migration, a trend that persisted after independence. Some migration theorists, therefore, view international migration as an extension of rural-urban movement for better prospects (Konadu-Agyemang, 1999).

Immigration from Ghana and Africa in general to Canada before the 1960s was relatively uncommon due to Canada's assimilationist policy inclination at the time (Caidi & Allard, 2005; Darden, 2004; Li, 2003). In the view of Darden (2004), Canada's new liberal approach laid the foundations for the arrival of visible minority groups to the country. It is therefore not surprising that, as of 1991, out of the total immigrant population of 166,175 'born in Africa', only 3.4% arrived in Canada before 1961. The remainder arrived during the two decades from 1971 to 1991 (Statistics Canada, 1992). As of 2024, the Ghana High Commission in Canada estimates that there are over 100,000 Ghanaians residing in Canada. Since the focus of this project is on immigrants, this number is not particularly relevant, as it includes diplomats, international students, people on tourist visas, and others. However, its relevance lies in the fact that they are all part of the Ghanaian marriage market.

According to data from the 2021 Census of Population, there were 31,720 immigrants of Ghanaian ethnic or cultural origin in Canada, accounting for 0.1% of the total Canadian population. The majority, 20,935 (66%), reside in Ontario, with 4,015 (12.6%) in Alberta, 3,365 (10.6%) in Quebec, and 1,670 (5.3%) in British Columbia. The remainder live in Manitoba (565, or 1.8%), Saskatchewan (555, or 1.7%), Newfoundland and Labrador (125, or 0.39%), Yukon (75, or 0.24%), Nova Scotia (235, or 0.74%), and 10 (0.03%) each in Prince Edward Island, Nunavut, and the Northern Territories. According to the 2021 census data, the city of Toronto alone is home to 47% of all Canadians born in Ghana, while Hamilton, which ranks third in Ontario after Toronto and Ottawa, has 2%, or 645. The 2021 census shows Ghanaian immigrants in Canada mainly arrived through family sponsorship (30%), with others coming as economic

immigrants (16%), workers (13%), skilled workers (11%), refugees (10%), protected persons (3%), and resettled refugees (6%).

Canadian Multiculturalism

Multiculturalism as a concept is described as the deliberate and consistent effort by governments, typically in Western countries, to institute policies, programmes, and laws that engender and promote diverse cultures, religions, and minority languages to create a plural society (May 2021). These efforts encompass various public policies, including school curricula in minority languages, affirmative action programmes, exemptions from dress codes, and the protection of religious freedom.

Canada's identity is difficult to define due to its diverse population, history of immigration, geographic, historical, and linguistic variety. (Berry, 2013). Before the 1970s, the country prioritized European immigrants, hoping they would assimilate and become indistinguishable from Canadians.. Following assimilation challenges, Canada officially adopted Multiculturalism as a policy in 1971, welcoming immigrants from around the world. The policy aimed to help cultural groups in Canada preserve their identities, break down barriers to participation, promote cultural exchanges, and assist immigrants in learning an official language. (Brosseau & Dewing, 2018). Thus, the government assumed a significant role in promoting diverse cultures and improving race relations. However, racism against visible minorities and indigenous nations remains at institutional levels of soceity.

Multiculturalism in Canada has evolved to have three interrelated meanings, according to Berry (2013). He identified it as a demographic fact, highlighting Canadians' desire to engage with diverse cultures, as well as a key public policy consideration. Consequently, even

Conservative governments take measures to pass and expand legislation that enhances multiculturalism (May, 2021). However, the widespread non-recognition of certificates and experiences of immigrants in Canada as a criterion for employment, Canada's policy and approach towards refugees from Ukraine, compared to other refugee groups like Palestinians, Syrians, South Sudanese, Eritreans, and Iraqis, demonstrates institutional racism and discrimination. For May, the bedrock of multiculturalism is tolerance, equality, human rights, and the elimination of institutional discrimination. Canada's acid test, however, will be the promulgation of laws that eliminate professional gatekeeping.

Acculturation and Acculturative Stress

The increasing interconnectedness of the world has led to a rise in migration, with individuals navigating new cultural landscapes. This necessitates new learning to fit into these new environments. Based on Berry's (2003) classic work, acculturation refers to the cultural and psychological adaptations that ensue following the interaction of different cultural groups and their members. This entails changes in social structures, institutions, norms, and values at the cultural level, alongside changes in people's behavioural patterns, including food, dress, values, and identities. It is a complex process involving a dynamic exchange among cultures.

Models of Acculturation

Several models have been proposed to understand the various ways individuals acculturate. Berry (2017) describes these strategies as the attitudes and behaviours individuals adopt in their everyday intercultural encounters with their own and other groups. Berry's (2003) framework identified four main modes of acculturation: integration, separation, assimilation, and marginalization. Integration involves synchronously maintaining one's heritage culture while

adopting elements of the host or dominant culture. Others (Driscoll & Torres, 2022; Shwartz et al., 2017) refer to this as biculturalism. Separation, entails rejecting the host culture while preserving one's heritage culture. Assimilation occurs when a person fully adopts the host or dominant culture, potentially losing aspects of their heritage culture to become 'same' as hosts. Marginalization, occurs when individuals disengage from both their heritage and host cultures.

The choice of strategy depends on factors like personality, cultural distance, and social support. It is assumed that discrimination and acculturation challenges diminish after the first generation, as later generations adopt the host country's language and culture. Their subsequent generations assimilate into the mainstream, often resembling and speaking like white people (Portes & Rumbaut, 2001, 2006; Schwartz et al., 2017). This does not hold true for black and other visible minority groups. Recent research by Nguyen and Benner (2013) emphasizes the dynamic nature of acculturation, suggesting that individuals may adopt a combination of strategies over time. Sam and Berry (2016) drew attention to the symbiotic nature of acculturation. They posit that, as two or more cultures continuously interact, individuals and groups from each culture adapt to the other culture(s). Berry (2017) also suggest that acculturation does not cease after a specific period or among generations. Instead, it extends beyond an individual's lifespan or over a millennium. The acculturation literature displays significant biases and flaws that have become widely accepted. For example, Blacks and Africans are treated as a single category, even though Africa alone has fifty-five countries, including Western Sahara. Each of these countries possesses a distinct cultural identity.

Although individuals who immigrate as children tend to acculturate better than adults and adolescents (Carranza, 2019; Portes & Rumbaut, 2001), most of them grow up torn between two

worlds and are considered "alien" in each. Adult and adolescent immigrants generally have vivid memories of cultural practices and experiences from their home country (Portes & Rambaut, 2006), providing them with a basis for comparison. For example, children brought from Ghana are referred to as 'born again' among Ghanaian immigrants in London because some deny they were born in Ghana to fit in with their peers. This exemplifies Schwartz et al.'s (2017) position that such individuals are hindered from actively participating in the receiving culture, thereby inhibiting the development of their bicultural identity. Among African and other visible minority immigrants, even second-generation children continue to be asked the infamous question, 'Where are you from?', despite potentially lacking any connection to their parents' countries of origin beyond their lineage, which is very discriminatory (Lee et al., 2017; Lee, 2005).

Older adults may struggle to accept the host country's language, accent, culture, practices, and identities due to their bond with their country of origin (Schwartz et al., 2006). Later generations in ethnic enclaves like North York's Jane and Finch, the Dixon and Kipling neighbourhood called "little Mogadishu" in Etobicoke (Mensah & William, 2013), Brampton, and Toronto's Chinatown may face acculturation challenges, including pressures against assimilation and identity confusion (Driscoll & Torres, 2022). First-generation immigrants, often without formal education in the host country, can still effectively integrate and maintain their cultural practices, ensuring the continuity of their language and cultural values across generations (Schwartz et al., 2006). This also encourages second and subsequent generations to explore their ethnic identity and their connection to their group (Phinney, 1990).

A nascent body of scholarship, pioneered by Carranza (2019), suggests that acculturation should be understood within the context of family, rather than the dominant perspective that

focuses on individuals and groups as the fulcrum for acculturation. They argue that, for racialized immigrants from previously colonized countries, their identities, struggles, and successes are intertwined with their families and the vestiges of colonization. Carranza redefines family acculturation as "the processes by which transnational families, coming from colonized spaces, "negotiate" hierarchies of knowledge, and new processes and dynamics set out by their cultural transition such as new roles and identities with family members in the settlement country, and abroad. These processes are significantly influenced by the families' (a) perceived location, of themselves and others, in the imaginary colonial grid, (ii) hierarchy and members' age and gender, (iii) the inner dynamics of the ethnic community, and (iv) the political/social/ colonial processes between the specific racialized group and the society" (p. 54).

This definition views acculturation as a lifelong process, considers the family's roles and burdens when members migrate. It also recognizes family experiences, intercultural dialogues, and how these foster solidarity, resistance, and cohesion in the host country (Carranza, 2019). Although the concept has its roots in data from Latixs, it applies to African immigrants. The concept of 'familisimo', where family interests take precedence over those of the individual, is similar to the Ghanaian context, except that, a Ghanaian family comprises of the dead, the living, and those yet to be born. All facets of this family play roles and have expectations that influence the acculturation.

Acculturative Stress

The psychological strain associated with acculturation is known as acculturative stress (Berry, 2003). This stress arises from the difficulties of navigating unfamiliar cultural norms, values, and expectations while developing new repertoires of behaviour. It is different from

general life stress, as it is specifically linked to the process of transitioning and adapting to a new environment after immigration (Berry et al., 1987). Acculturative stress can manifest in various forms, including anxiety and depression (Berry, 2017; D'Anna-Hernandez et al., 2015; Driscoll & Torres, 2022), identity confusion, difficulty in forming social connections, heightened psychosomatic symptoms like disruptions in sleep and digestion (Berry, 2017), feelings of marginality and alienation (Berry et. al, 1987), as well as risky sexual behaviour and smoking behaviour (Du & Li, 2013).

Factors contributing to acculturative stress include language barriers, which can cause isolation and frustration, and the pressure to learn a new language (Driscoll, 2022). Cultural distance, characterized by significant differences between heritage and host cultures, presents challenges (Liem et al., 2021). A lack of social support, particularly when individuals are isolated from both communities, can exacerbate stress. Pre-existing mental health issues also complicate coping. Downward social mobility worsens stress (Ward et al., 2020). Carranza (2019) highlights gender tension caused by financial pressures, affecting women's mental health as they manage traditional and modern roles, and men struggling with shifting power dynamics.

Coping Mechanisms for Acculturative Stress: Liem et al. (2021) note that coping mechanisms vary with cultural background and personal experience. The host country's social and economic contexts also shape coping methods. Maintaining social ties with both heritage and host communities fosters a sense of support and belonging. Calling in situ families can help manage stress (Khaled & Grey, 2019, as cited by Liem et al., 2021). Others participate in religious activities (Chaze et al., 2015). Reflecting on cultural identity can improve self-awareness and coherence. Learning the host country's language can improve communication and

social connections. Unfortunately, for Africans, learning the host language is not enough, as their accent exposes them to ridicule. Seeking the services of a professional with cultural sensitivity training can be valuable.

It is imperative to draw attention to the point that the acculturation literature itself is dominated by the experiences of Latinx and Asian immigrants, while that of black and African immigrants is neglected. Without such experiences, it is difficult to draw direct inferences from the literature, because African cultures vary significantly from other cultures. Nevertheless, their theoretical foundations can inform this work. This study seeks to contribute to plugging some of this knowledge gap.

Transnationalism and Transnational Families

Transnationalism evolved from assimilation theories and has since become a ubiquitous concept. It describes the interconnectedness of individuals, families, communities and institutions across sovereign national borders. Basch et al. (1994) has been highlighted as initiating the academic discourse on transnationalism as a critical alternative to assimilation (De Jong & Dannecker, 2018). Basch and colleagues defined transnationalism as "processes by which immigrants build social fields that link together their country of origin and their country of residence" (p. 1). With the accelerated trend of globalization, people, ideas, and capital flow more freely than ever before, thus challenging traditional notions of national sovereignty and cultural identity. In recent decades, both voluntary and forced migrations caused by conflicts, wars, and global economic pressures have increased, leading to the emergence of transnational communities. These communities stay connected with their home countries through communication, remittances, and cultural exchanges (Levitt, 2001).

This study focuses on transnational families - migrant families who maintain multiple links and connections that can be construed as feelings of collective welfare and unity, as well as familyhood or kinship ties, with other members of their families in their countries of origin.

Bryceson (2019) identified two types: bi-transnational families, found in situations where family members are situated in two countries and multi-transnational families, in which members of one family are located in the home country and in more than one receiving country. These are made possible by the advancement and democratisation of transportation, information, communication, and technology (Bryceson, 2019; Merla et al., 2021).

This has stimulated theories such as transnational marriages (Acedera & Yeoh, 2018, 2019), transnational motherhood (Ducu, 2013), transnational parenting (Alaazi et al., 2018), and transnational grandparenting (Zhou, 2018). Transnational family theories evolved from the extension of gender ideology to female migration and, consequently, to the struggles ofmigrant mothers and the innovative ways they adopt to navigate their traditional roles as mothers to children left behind in their country of origin (Ducu, 2018; Poeze, 2019). Merla et al. (2021) highlight transnational care, as theorized by Baldassar (2007), where immigrants create innovative ways to care for ageing parents miles away, regulated by a mix of capacity, cultural obligation, and family commitments. Such care is symbiotic; retired parents support their children's emotional and psychological needs, illustrating Baldassar and Merla's (2014) care circulation: a reciprocal, multidimensional exchange within transnational families influenced by political, economic, cultural, and social contexts.

Sulemana et al. (2019) opined that remittances by immigrants to their family members in their countries of origin represent a key field of transnationalism. Such remittances are a source

of economic stability and capital to enhance production, welfare, or the standard of living for family members left behind and reinforce a sense of obligation among those abroad (Bryceson, 2019). Bryceson theorized that in situ family members in the country of origin invest in the initial journey of migrants in anticipation of future remittances. In the context of Ghanaians, such investments sometimes involve the liquidation or pawning of important family assets like land, houses, and gold, or the suspension of a sibling's education. What Bryceson missed in her theory is that such investments aim to give the immigrant a chance at success and ultimately emancipate a previously poor family from hardships. While they are embraced, Ghanaian immigrants elevate their care for family members back home to levels that inhibit their own development and the progress of subsequent generations in the host countries (Firang, 2011) by investing in prestigious houses, automobiles parked in garages for years that they only use during vacations, or businesses they cannot supervise or monitor properly.

Nevertheless, in some cases, such efforts also reveal some of the challenges faced by migrants, such as securing proper documentation (Menjivar, 2006; Menjivar et al. 2020). Some migrants remit most of their earnings back home as a safety measure in case of unforeseen arrest and deportation (Gómez Cervantes et al., 2017; Enchautegui & Menjívar, 2015; Menjivar et al., 2018a, 2018b; Poeze, 2019). The unfortunate reality, however, is that for some, this situation endures for decades as they are never arrested or deported, leading them to live in squalor while remitting their income to their family (Poeze, 2019) for a more comfortable life.

Another facet of Ghanaian transnationalism involves transnational grandparenting (Zhou, 2018). In the context of Ghanaian immigrants, this is an extension of the traditional practice where one spouse's mother, usually the wife's, moves in temporarily to support a neophyte

couple when a baby is born. As articulated by Zhou, when such requests are made to parents, they usually deem it a special duty they need to fulfil and perpetuate their cultural notions of family and values. For Ghanaians, neglecting such a call is considered a dereliction of duty that can attract the angst of their ancestors.

The rise of transnationalism challenges families and the nation-state. Bryceson (2019) notes that female migration creates family challenges like substitute caregivers, emotional resentment, and marital tensions. Poeze (2019) highlights how a lack of documentation prevents fathers from making home visits, emphasizing the trade-off between financial gains and physical contact. Bryceson (2019) and Menjivar et al. (2018b) also observed that border policies have shifted from relatively open to stricter regimes, stifling migration and family reunification.

Gomez Cervantes et al. (2017) described how the immigration industrial complex—comprising government, criminal justice, and private interests—oppresses migrants in detention centres.

Due to the historical antecedents of transnational family research, the domain is shaped by the experiences of migrant women. Poeze (2019) argues that this arose from the view that migrant men's experiences are considered, to some extent, as an extension of their breadwinner role, which is devoid of emotion and filled with disciplinary measures and material support for their families. This study aims to fill some of that gap in the theory.

Marital Tensions Among Immigrants

Research suggests that a major source of marital tension among immigrants is women's participation in the labour market, especially when they spend extended hours away from home (Cobb-Clark & Connolly, 2001; Cooke et al., 2013; Kleist, 2010). Along with their husbands', who are often highly educated in their home countries, struggles to secure employment, this

results in role reversal where women become the breadwinners (George, 2000; Min, 2001), or the welfare system assumes that role (Kleist, 2010). Donkor (2013) notes that tension arises from husbands' adherence to traditional patriarchal roles despite their reduced breadwinner status. She describes how Ghanaian women in Toronto use similes, euphemisms, and mythology to illustrate how Canadian gender norms influence the high divorce rate among Ghanaian immigrants. They portray Lake Ontario's spirit as a lonely, jealous woman seeking solace through divorce on married women who drink from it, symbolizing their resistance to Ghanaian norms after adopting Ontario's egalitarian and feminist ideals that challenge masculine privilege.

Min (2001) opined that most immigrant women do not participate in the labour market due to their feminist inclinations; however, they inevitably become empowered, thereby gaining more marital power and social status. Zhou et al. (2018) summed this up with the view that immigrant men lose gender respectability, facing humiliation from their inability to provide and being evicted by their wives. Researchers (George, 2000; Kleist, 2010; Min, 2001) identified religion as influencing entrenched gender norms. Faced with the loss of patriarchal status and its accompanying stress, immigrant men seek solace in socio-religious avenues (Chaze et al., 2015; George, 2000; Kleist, 2010; Min, 2001) because they reinforce patriarchal values.

The immigrant groups studied by George (2000), Kleist (2010), and Min (2001) may not fully align with Ghanaian immigrants, but they offer valuable theoretical insights. Unlike highly educated Korean men, who often avoid blue-collar jobs, Ghanaian men tend to accept these roles. Patriarchal tendencies in Ghanaian cultures suggest these studies' insights are relevant.

Conflict Caused by Canada Child Benefits (CCB)

The CCB is a monthly, non-taxable amount paid by the Canadian government to eligible families for raising children under eighteen years (Baker et al., 2023; Colley et al., 2011). It aims to reduce child poverty and offers families the flexibility to choose childcare.

However, some researchers (Baker et al., 2023; Hum & Choudhry, 1992; Kesselman, 2019; Lahey, 2000; Mitchell & Debruyn, 2019; Pentlands et al., 2021) have concluded that the CCB may discourage marriage or encourage divorce and single motherhood, as it is contingent upon household income. The amount per child is inversely related to family income. Researchers (Hoynes & Patel, 2017; Kesselman, 2019; Li & Neborak, 2018) opined that at the federal level, couples are considered for tax purposes if they co-reside for twelve months with a child, via birth or adoption. Some Canadian civic groups have suggested that single mothers remain single due to support structures (Fédération des associations de familles monoparentales et recomposées du Québec, 2022). Marriage penalties, as they are often referred to, have been shown to have a small but significant impact on the likelihood of marrying or remarrying (Burstein, 2007; Fisher, 2013). Using cross-sectional data, Anderberg (2008) found that after reforms in the United Kingdom's benefits policy, a £100 per week partnering penalty decreased the chances of a woman partnering by seven percentage points. Similarly, Griffiths (2017) also demonstrated a positive correlation between the motives for living apart from partners and mothers receiving UK social welfare. Jennifer and Lindsay (2023) argue that directing benefits like the CCB to the primary caregiver's account can create conflicts between couples without proper financial planning. Therefore, in countries that offer child benefits, recipients need to manage their expenses effectively and involve their spouses in financial planning (Brown & Tarasuk, 2019; Pentland et al., 2023).

This notwithstanding, Bastian (2017) and Michelmore (2016) have demonstrated that the disincentive to marry or the motivation for divorce is minimal and primarily found among low-income earners. This is significant because low income is prevalent among immigrants and black populations, who are the focus of this research. Lahey (2000) argued that using marriage or spousal status to restrict benefits like the CCB contributes to poverty in low-income families. Therefore, the notion that the CCB influences divorce remains a valid one.

The New Paradigm

Dual-earner couples are common in today's households (Pinho et al., 2021). Traditionally, husbands earned more, as women balanced domestic duties and work, often in lower-paying jobs due to discrimination (Day, 2018; O'Brien & Wall, 2017; Sparham, 2019; Sullivan, 2019). However, improved female education and affirmative action laws since the late twentieth century (Knop & Brewster, 2016) have enabled women to secure higher-paying roles in technology, services, health, and education (Carvalho et al., 2015; Esping-Andersen, 2016; Knop & Brewster, 2016; Kramer & Kramer, 2016; Parker, 2015). As a result, more families have women as breadwinners and men as stay-at-home dads (García Román, 2020; Knop & Brewster, 2016; Kramer et al., 2015; Kramer & Kramer, 2016). This shift has led some theorists to focus on understanding these dynamics rather than just gender inequalities (Deutsch & Gaunt, 2020; Pinho et al., 2021).

A study by Khamis and Ayuso (2021) shows that such families are more common in Nordic countries and Welfare States that promote female education and work. Factors like women having higher education, being older, childless, and less religious promote female

breadwinner households. These couples share domestic tasks equally and manage their finances independently (Cantillon et al., 2016; Çineli, 2020; LeBaron et al., 2019; Lott, 2017).

Pinho et al. (2021) compared couples in role-reversed and traditional marriages. They found that male and female caregivers had similar perceptions of choice and satisfaction, with primary caregivers generally more satisfied and perceiving a higher sense of choice than breadwinners. Notably, breadwinning mothers were most dissatisfied and felt least in control, wanting to change their roles. Pinho and colleagues suggest this may be because the breadwinner role conflicts with some mothers' gender ideologies, supporting researchers' views (Khamis & Ayuso, 2021; Kramer & Kramer, 2016) that egalitarian beliefs are crucial in role-reversed families. Parents in role-reversed families, according to Pinho and colleagues, prefer to alter their division of labour and have their men work. However, they suggest female breadwinners would rather their partners contribute more financially than fully invert roles. LeBaron et al. (2019) support this, noting that in female breadwinner families, men often perform more domestic chores and childcare, while still contributing financially. In contrast, in male breadwinner families, 90% of women are typically housewives. Men typically remain financial contributors due to pensions, benefits, or insurance from work-related accidents. In contrast, women in male breadwinner families tend to be stay-at-home mothers, often because of societal norms or family commitments. Consequently, researchers (Bianchi et al., 2000; Bianchi et al., 2006; Chesley, 2011; Dunn et al., 2011; Pinho et al., 2021; Knop & Brewster, 2016; Kramer et al., 2015) concluded that such arrangements are typically caused by economic factors, health or labour market constraints, suitability for the role, and the importance of having one parent at home. Therefore, it may be persuasive to associate the phenomenon with both economic factors and

social change perspectives. Although this is beyond the scope of this study, the phenomenon still provides a foundation for the current research.

Mental Health Problems among Divorced Men

Research (Idstad et al., 2015; Sanda et al., 2020; Wójcik et al., 2019) suggest that divorce and separation have a significant mental health impact on divorcees. Similarly, Cohen and Finzi-Dottan (2012) and Wójcik and colleagues have opined that divorcees experience a decline in their mental health, heightened depression, anxiety, reduced life satisfaction, and more health problems than married individuals. Research indicates that men's health is more affected by divorce than women's (Cohen & Finzi-Dottan, 2012; Symoens et al., 2014; Wójcik et al., 2021), and they face short-term consequences (Leopold, 2018).

Weight fluctuation, excessive alcohol, substance misuse, and insomnia are common health issues divorced men face. Research shows divorce influences alcohol abuse among divorcees, but the same does not apply to illicit substance misuse. (Edwards et al., 2018; Kendler et al., 2017). Men who internalize gender stereotypes, viewing emotional expression as feminine, experience even greater mental health problems (Kołodziej-Zaleska & Przybyła-Basista, 2016; Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018; Whitley, 2021). A man seeking help after divorce may face ridicule from his peers and a dent in his sense of masculinity (Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018).

Consequently, many divorced men withdraw into themselves, worsening their health.

Retaining their most important assets and daily access to their children after divorce is a significant source of anxiety and stress for men during divorce (Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018, Umberson & Williams, 1993). Mnyango and Alpaslan also found that divorced men may move

on from their marriages, but they seldom accept the loss of their homes and children. Losing these can lead to psychological distress for divorced men, especially if the woman remarries (Edwards et al., 2018; Leopold, 2018; Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018). Other concerns for men include financial stability, alimony, child support, emotional well-being, and social support networks (Damo & Cenci, 2021; Hiyoshi et al, 2015; Kiecolt-Glaser, 2018; Kołodziej-Zaleska & Przybyła-Basista, 2016; Leopold, 2018). Racial discrimination in countries like Canada can accentuate loneliness and severe mental health challenges for immigrant men experiencing divorce without family support (Leopold, 2018; Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018; Whitley, 2021). Both Whitley and Scourfield and Evans (2015) note that divorced men face higher suicide rates than divorced women, primarily due to post-divorce depression.

In conclusion, the literature offers a theoretical foundation for the work, even though the trend towards individualization and female-headed households may not align with Ghanaian cultural and gender ideology. However, considering that immigrants often find themselves in environments where such trends are prevalent, based on constructionist thought, my initial belief is that Ghanaian immigrants negotiate gender roles influenced by both their backgrounds and the context of Canada. Nonetheless, the specific nature of these new gender roles, the degree to which each spouse adopts them, and the tensions arising from conflicting discourses can only be understood through the experiences of participants. On a different wavelength, the acculturation literature is notably limited regarding the experiences of African immigrants, being largely dominated by research focused on the experiences of Latinx, Koreans, and Chinese. Therefore, it has been challenging to determine whether one can draw direct inferences from these studies.

Nevertheless, the theoretical perspectives and cultural dispositions related to religion and family within these ethnicities offer some impetus for grounding this research project.

Chapter Three: Research Method

In this chapter, I focus on the research method employed to undertake this project by elucidating the views that informed my choices regarding the research method, methodology and selection of participants. The chapter will also shed some light on how participants for the study were selected and how the data for the study was gathered and analyzed.

Cresswell (2013) advised that research epistemology, methodology, and methods should be aligned. Accordingly, social constructionist theory (Burr, 2015; Gergen, 1999, 2001) was used in a phenomenological approach (Creswell, 2013; Moustakas, 1994) to distill the core experiences of my participants into broader themes. Phenomenology was chosen to understand the meanings participants assign to their experiences of separation and divorce. Focusing on participants' shared experiences of tension and conflict in their marriages as a result of family finances presents a palpable ground for a phenomenological study. This is because "the basic purpose of phenomenology is to reduce individual experiences with a phenomenon to a description of the universal essence" (Creswell, 2013, p. 76).

Ultimately, phenomenology provided a unique approach to presenting the collective experiences of these men through its inquiry steps. The core questions were: (i) what were their experiences of marital conflicts due to family finances, and (ii) what influenced these experiences? These questions helped gather responses that revealed common themes. This ultimately shed light on my second research focus: gender values among Ghanaian immigrants and their perceptions of marriage in Canada. In problematizing how immigrant men perceive and experience marital conflict and tension, I aimed to remain open to any aspects of participants' experiences that might emerge during my interviews. Drawing on Moustakas' (1994) views, it was essential to acknowledge the relative nature of our individual experiences with marital tension and conflict. Additionally, I was able to highlight the differences in the meanings of marital conflict and tension between Ghanaian immigrants and mainstream Canadian culture during in-depth interviews.

In any phenomenological research, participants' perceptions are the primary source of knowledge and should be regarded as valid and reliable. According to Zhou (2010), by viewing individuals' experiences and perceptions as positional and intentional, a phenomenological approach examines these experiences in a way that shields them from the researcher's preconceptions. Moustakas (1994) also suggested that giving premium to each participant's perception highlights different aspects of their experiences and thus aids in understanding the phenomenon. According to Farber (1943), meaning is the fulcrum around which phenomenology revolves. Based on an in-depth examination of participants' personal experiences, the researcher can capture the meaning and commonalities of an experience through the stories shared by participants. As an abstract entity, the truth of the event is subjective and knowable only through

participants' embodied perception because individuals create meaning through their experiences of moving through space and across time (Starks and Trinidad, 2007).

For Ghanaians, meaning can be expressed through proverbs, music, and other art forms. By relying on proverbs and songs inherited from previous generations, they can understand and derive meaning from their everyday experiences, thereby avoiding past mistakes. Although such knowledge sources remain valuable due to our experiences over time, they are often discounted as invalid because they are undocumented. Therefore, to encourage Ghanaians to exhume their inner selves, there is a need for an approach that seeks to validate experiential knowledge. Starks and Trinidad have stated that, "phenomenology contributes to deeper under-standing of lived experiences by exposing taken-for-granted assumptions about these ways of knowing" (p. 1373). Hence, phenomenology aligns well with my critical and constructionist frameworks, assisting in highlighting the views of immigrant men in the household economy and acculturation literature.

Recruitment Process

Six Ghanaian immigrant men were purposively selected (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017; Mason, 2002; Seale, 2012) to participate in this research. In purposive sampling, the researcher selects participants to fulfil a particular purpose based on the research objective, design, and, in this case, the target population (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2017). In qualitative research, considering that each participant can potentially be a source of multiple concepts, a large sample size is not necessarily needed to generate rich data sets (Starks & Trinidad, 2014). Gill (2020) recommends a sample size of three to six participants as ideal for a phenomenological study like this, or when data saturation is reached.

Two key strategies were used as entry points to the Ghanaian community in Hamilton. Posters were posted at the premises of three identified African grocery shops located in the city of Hamilton to solicit potential participants. This had the advantage of attracting Ghanaian immigrants living in the city, as many Ghanaians buy African groceries from these stores. Flyers were also displayed at the premises of community centres and public places like churches that are patronized by Ghanaian and African immigrants to request potential participants to get in touch with me. Ten individuals contacted me; however, after screening, eight were selected to participate in the study. Of these eight, six attended their appointments, and two interviews were truncated midway. Those who did not meet the criteria were women.

Description of Participants. All participants in this study were first-generation immigrant Ghanaian men residing in Hamilton. Selecting first-generation immigrants ensured that participants were familiar with Ghanaian cultural values and gender norms, allowing them to compare those with Canadian culture and values. All participants had lived in Canada for over eight years and had either divorced or separated by the time of the interview. Each participant was previously married to a first-generation Ghanaian immigrant woman with whom they had children aged between zero and seventeen years, for whom they received CCB.

Data Gathering

The primary method for generating data was semi-structured, in-depth interviews conducted in the Twi language, which is widely spoken among Ghanaians. Using Twi as the medium of interview was intended to ensure that participants felt at ease and could articulate their experiences in a language they were comfortable with, allowing them to express their genuine feelings. Beyond these, the Twi language also neutralized the potential power imbalance

between the researcher and participants. Not all Ghanaian immigrants can speak fluent English, and the use of the English language between an educated Ghanaian and a not-so-educated Ghanaian is often considered disrespectful and haughty on the part of the educated individual. Using the Twi language was to avoid participants perceiving the researcher as such, which could potentially prevent them from sharing their stories.

Cruz (2001) suggests that researchers of colour have to "create and develop alternative spaces and methodologies for the study of their communities" (p. 658), and for a Ghanaian researcher, art forms such as music, drama, story-telling and dance represent a core medium of imparting, transferring, preserving and perpetuating our cultural beliefs, values and customs. To understand the meanings participants derive from their experiences, they were encouraged to share Ghanaian songs that shed light on their experiences. My reliance on music was borne out of the Ghanaian idea that music makes sense to you when it is related to event(s) in your life. This is because Ghanaian art forms are expected to convey philosophies, uphold customs, and reflect life values. Without such underpinnings, art forms are considered unworthy of attention. I, therefore, decided to ask participants what Ghanaian music best describes their experience, feeling, or thought after the first participant, who was interviewed, used music as a way of communicating the essence of his experience. Consequently, these songs were included in the repertoire of sources of understanding and interpreting their experiences.

Interview process. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants, except for three who opted to provide oral consent. All interviews were audiotaped with participants' permission. An interview guide with key points helped focus the interviews on the major themes of the research. It ensured that participants shared much more information with me, as well as

introduced their themes to the research. The researcher conducted a verbatim transcription of the audiotaped interviews into English, with linguistic support from a friend in Ghana. This support was helpful in situations where it was difficult to accurately translate sentences, because they were laced with proverbs, to convey the same meaning that participants articulated. This way, participants' privacy was protected.

Data analysis

After transcription, the researcher separated all textual responses, participants' accounts of what happened, from their structural descriptions and how their experiences unfolded. This was done manually using Apple's Pages word processor. Then, I thoroughly reviewed all the textual and structural descriptions to identify the keywords, phrases, and sentences that participants mentioned, highlighting them. These highlighted words, phrases, and sentences from each participant were then copied and pasted into a new Pages document. The process also involved an attempt to understand each participant's experience as portrayed in their stories and the music they associate with their experiences. Furthermore, I read through each new document to check for redundancy, based on emerging clusters of meaning that suggested patterns in participants' experiences. This ultimately led to the development of two thematized accounts: thematized textual and thematized structural descriptive accounts for further analysis. The researcher then unified these two thematized accounts, paying close attention to the various nuances of narratives each participant provided during their interviews regarding their experiences of tension and conflict in their marriages and the eventual breakdown of their families.

Additionally, secondary data collected from books, academic journal articles, online publications and websites proved valuable for the research. Some well-known Ghanaian cultural practices, proverbs, metaphors, and stories related to the topic that I personally know and have experienced were also utilized to interpret the data shared by participants. Due to the ritualized nature of practices such as marriage, my personal experience of getting married, observing, and participating in the negotiations, planning, and ceremonies provides me with insights into the process, making it a valid form of knowledge. To ensure that my interpretations of the participants' experiences and my own insights were accurate, I contacted elderly women and Chiefs from my family and community, the custodians of our culture, to confirm that they aligned with customs, traditions, and practices passed down by our ancestors. Reaching out to them was vital because Ghanaian culture is primarily transmitted through oral tradition, and often documented sources are insufficient or unavailable.

Chapter Four: Results

This chapter focuses on the stories shared by participants during the data-gathering process. It also includes cues and nonverbal expressions I observed during the interview. The names used in the presentation are either fictional, folklore, or Ghanaian pseudonyms. These names do not correspond to or resemble the folklore or fictional images in the stories. They were used to facilitate analysis and discussion of the data obtained from the interviews.

Following data analysis, several themes emerged to facilitate discussion and comparison with existing theory and literature. There are two main themes: negotiating couple relations in a new country, which covers negotiations around family finances and domestic chores, and the emerging tensions from these negotiations. The sub-themes under tensions include those emanating from family finances and domestic chores, the end of the financial honeymoon, and tensions related to child benefits. The next major theme is transnationalism: romance and economic exchanges. The sub-themes are partner selection and marriage, the economics of spousal sponsorship, and the shift from family to singlehood. The shift from family to singlehood also has these sub-themes: the snake in the Garden of Eden, behind enemy lines, the ultimate losers, negative coping mechanisms, positive coping mechanisms, and service-seeking habits.

Negotiating Couple Relations in the New Country

In their cultural contexts, couple relationships are more or less predetermined, although new couples must create arrangements that suit individual and family lifestyles as well as work schedules. Immigrant couples, unfamiliar with Canadian culture where factors like family finances and responsibilities are shaped by individual charter freedoms, need to adapt to cultural norms and work-life balance. This requires ongoing negotiations, enabling spouses to communicate their expectations and find ways to tackle acculturative challenges such as language barriers, securing employment, conflicting values, and raising children.

Negotiating Household Finances. All participants agreed on a system for managing their finances with their spouses. Some kept separate bank accounts and contributed an agreed sum, based on their income levels, into a joint account from which all household bills are paid. When asked who managed the funds between the couple, one participant simply retorted,

"The one who is more responsible, as simple as that. Because in my case, I am very good at managing resources, right, whilst my partner may not be. She is not as good at taking care of money, so when I manage it, we end up saving part of what we contribute. I know how to manage money" (interview with Awoche).

However, when elaborating on his relative ability to manage money, Awoche alluded to the fact that he would not spend the money on things he considered frivolous. Without referencing his spouse, Awoche indicated that:

"Some women do not know how to manage money, so if you leave things completely in their hands, she will be spending on personal shopping whilst rent is unpaid, and then the burden comes back to you, the man" (interview with Awoche).

Beyond the spouse's relative knowledge and experience in managing money, it is also important to note that participants agreed that the level of trust between the couple, harmony at home, and the presence of children are equally significant factors influencing which spouse controls the money. Here, the core skill is prioritizing family necessities over personal pleasures.

In another system, the couple agreed on who should pay each bill. They list all recurring household expenses and decide who is responsible for each. Participants mentioned that they paid rent or mortgage, car insurance, and some utilities, while the wife paid for other utilities, groceries, childcare, and what they described as 'petty expenses'. In both cases, the men indicated that they paid more than their wives. According to Togbe,

"My income was more and stable than hers, so it was wiser to take care of the bigger and more crucial bills as the man in the house". (Interview with Togbe)

Finally, some participants entrust their entire earnings to their homemaker wives. This decision is based on their previous experience when the wife was in Ghana, during which she took control of his money and managed it very well. According to Ananse,

"when she was in Ghana, she took very good care of my money, so when she came, I gave her full control over our finances, thinking she would take care of things well. Even though the money was in my account she had copies of my bank cards. She manages everything we need to do as a family and buys whatever she wants without my permission. And to be frank, as our elders say, no matter how you hate the monkey, appreciate how it runs. She helped organize my money. That is why I could easily save and pay to make my next move all the time". (Interview with Kwaku Ananse)

In this case, the man could also undertake any expense, personal or household, without necessarily consulting or informing his wife before or after such action. According to Ananse, what also contributed to this arrangement was the fact that his wife had previously experienced a miscarriage as a result of her work. Therefore, there was a joint decision for her to stop working.

The system they use as immigrants is in flux and influenced by their level of acculturation. Since the men sponsored their wives to come to Canada, the arrangements depended on factors such as whether the woman was still new to Canada, a homemaker—which I refer to as the financial honeymoon period—or had established herself within the Canadian system. Despite this, Ghanaian male breadwinner norms played a significant role and remained consistent in couples' decision-making, even though the arrangements responded to Canadian conditions. Therefore, even when immigrants adopt Canadian marital norms, they modify these norms to align with Ghanaian gender ideology.

Domestic Chores. Participants generally agreed that their wives did most of the domestic chores, with varying degrees. Some mentioned that they assist with childcare. Others clean because they cannot tolerate dirty spaces. However, some did little to no work at home, leaving everything to their wives. According to Ananse:

"I may not have been cooking or cleaning the bathroom when we were together, but the reality is that she would not have allowed me to cook. How many Ghanaian women will eat food prepared by their husbands? You know, generally, even we, the men, were not taught how to

cook; cooking is a woman's job back home. In the same vein, women will not allow you, the man to go and do the groceries because you won't buy the right things. Over here, you don't do the laundry with your hands like back home, so washing is not an issue like it is back home." (Interview with Kwaku Ananse).

However, when I informed him that Ghanaian immigrant men living alone or sharing an apartment often do their groceries, cooking, and cleaning, Ananse was adamant.

It is evident that although immigrant Ghanaian men have adopted some Canadian notions of gender, their Ghanaian norms still dominate when it comes to household chores. It is equally critical to note that they also blamed their wives and, by extension, Ghanaian women for considering them incompetent in undertaking such tasks. Framing it this way serves to absolve them of responsibility and reinforces their Ghanaian gender norms. It has the effect of reproducing and reinforcing traditional Ghanaian gender norms among Ghanaian immigrants in Canada. The intersection of socialization, gender norms, and acculturation is central to the equitable division of domestic labour within immigrant families. However, participants' childcare responsibilities reveal Ghanaian men's attachment to their children.

Private expenses. In all cases, the men showed a need for such expenses, even though family interest expenses were always the most important to them. This is illustrated by Yaw Obentin, who indicated that,

"as a man, if you want to have a good marriage, you need to allow your wife to cheat you..... in the case of contributing money for the family or keeping money for private expenses, I think it needs more than fairness" (interview with Yaw Obentin).

This is ample evidence that Ghanaian men are not oblivious to their wives' personal needs for private spending. Ananse took the traditional Ghanaian view of personal expenses:

"Oh, my brother, I took very good care of her, as you see me like this, I know how to take care of a woman. I know how to take good care of a woman. Clothes, shoes, earrings, etc. I used

to buy Holland wax prints, send them to Ghana to be sewn for her, and when we attend Ghanaian programmes, everybody says yes! Kay, if you see a beautiful woman, don't say she is beautiful, ask how much was spent on her. Whaaaaat!" (Interview with Kwaku Ananse)

Personal expenses are construed differently compared to the West. Participants viewed wife gifting as a form of personal expense for her. Although this largesse may be seen as tokenism or patronizing, the threat of societal opprobrium elevates wife gifting from a simple act of one's will to a more nuanced task of pleasing the wife, her family, and society. This is further complicated by the onerous task of representing all men from one's family or lineage, as failing to gift the wife implies that all men from his family are unworthy grooms. It can be concluded that the principles of equity and fairness in marriage are not wholly lost on these men.

Tensions Emanating from Family Finances and Domestic Chores

The men were happy to share the bills with their wives, as required by Canadian norms, but avoided domestic chores because, according to Ghanaian marriage gender norms, it is the wife's or children's duty. At the other end of the spectrum, the men also insist that when it comes to expenses, women want to shift the financial burden onto the men, while also expecting them to cook, clean, babysit, and meet all the demands of Canadian life. Another aspect of the tensions concerns the perks, privileges, and respect accorded to husbands back home in Ghana, which the men expected from their wives but were not forthcoming. In the words of Kwaku Ananse;

"At this point, my good wife was sitting on my neck... she was not honouring her obligations as a wife to me. She won't serve my food after cooking, or if she will, she does it like I was a small boy in the house". (interview with Kwaku Ananse).

During the financial honeymoon period, the men were the sole breadwinners. As a result, the women, inexperienced in Canadian gender norms, treated them based on Ghanaian marriage norms. The wives eventually curtailed such courtesies, likely due to work-related stressors, much

to their husbands' disappointment. The conflicts, therefore, stemmed from difficulties adapting to Canadian norms, especially the challenge of renegotiating their domestic roles after their wives entered the workforce as well as uncommunicated expectations and challenges.

End of Financial Honeymoon. Some participants highlighted how tensions developed after they implored their wives to assume additional financial burdens. *T*ogbe indicated that:

"My only fault was that I told her now that you are done with school, you have to take on some of the bills. When I told her that, she asked me, "Oh, so you brought me here to do recruits' work to take care of you, eh, that will not come on"........What is the recruits' work here?.......... I asked my wife, after she has secured a job and is earning a better income to help pay bills, she tells me that it will not come on. Meanwhile, she knows perfectly well that one person cannot foot all the bills all the time". (Interview with Togbe)

In Ghanaian parlance, recruits' work refers to the tedious physical tasks that newly recruited armed forces officers and men are compelled to perform to toughen them and build their resilience. Such tasks are often detested because they usually hold little value compared to the effort and seriousness they demand.

Another aspect of marital financial tensions was when men engaged in extramarital affairs and attempted to replicate the conditions in that affair in their marital homes. One respondent described the situation as follows:

"Another issue is that there are so many women around without men, so the greedy men, because of their infidelity, enter into relationships with such single women. Out of the need for a man, these women do not insist on such men to pay bills, and the men think they should be treated in the same way in their homes. So, when all these come to light, the woman has no option but to kick you out." (Interview with Awoche)

As if to buttress Awoche's point, Ananse cited the situation of Ghanaian single mothers who usually do not bother their boyfriends with bills but rather cook for them.

If it is sex you need, those same women are available for free; they will even spend their money on you..... So, after getting the money, they pay men to 'service them'. When you attend Ghanaian parties and funerals, they term it, "The night is sweet," and you will see how the women fight over men. So why should I marry? Why do you buy the cow if all you need is the milk? (Interview with Kwaku Ananse)

The emerging trend here is men supporting their wives in attaining higher professional or academic laurels to enhance the wife's earning capacity and ultimately boost the family income. This inclination was driven by Ghanaian marriage gender norms that require a man to provide some form of capital for his wife. It is further reinforced by the fact that they have had multiple children together, leading to the expectation that the woman would stay committed to a lasting marriage. Oblivious to the men, the women's new education and income status also mean increased bargaining power and new gender ideals. Her tolerance for her partner's excesses, shortcomings, and demands has changed. Difficulties in adapting to the dual-earner household appear to be the source of tension.

Furthermore, the men created the impression of being wealthy while the women were in Ghana, and their decision to assume nearly all family expenses during the financial honeymoon shaped their wives' expectations. Therefore, it is difficult to persuade her to abandon the Ghanaian gender norm that the man pays the bills while a woman retains what she earns during her marriage or sends it to her birth family. The women verbalizing their husbands' request for them to take on additional responsibilities as recruits' work could also reflect their encounter with Canadian individual freedoms and feminist ideology. This is a repudiation of their husbands' attempts to expropriate their economic interests, as pertains in some Ghanaian cultures where the man owns all of the wife's economic assets. In conclusion, at this stage, the traditional

43

approach to family income, the combined earnings of the couple, has shifted. Family income is

now solely the man's, while the woman retains her earnings and contributes as she deems fit.

Tensions Emanating From Child Benefits. In describing how issues related to child

benefits broke the bond between him and his wife, Yaw Obentin stated that he unwittingly drove

his wife to the bank so she could get a statement for their RESP account. However, the statement

showed a nearly empty account. According to him,

"When I asked where the money we had been saving all these years was, she said she

had not withdrawn the money. She swore by 'tigare', 'akonnedi', 'boten' and all that she had not withdrawn the money. So, upon investigation we realized, according to information from the bank, that it was withdrawn using ATM machines. Later, through a tip off from the kids we

realized it was the third boy who did it. His lifestyle during a certain period was evident that he

was getting money from somewhere" (Interview with Yaw Obentin).

When I asked how the son was able to withdraw funds from a registered account at the bank

easily, Yaw Obentin explained that he later realized the wife, out of ignorance, had opened a

simple savings account. Therefore, withdrawals were similar to those of a chequing account.

It can be inferred that the wife had limited knowledge of Canadian finances. The bank

may also not have bothered to ask about the account's purpose. The State also does not provide

financial education to recipients, assuming everyone should spend the money as they wish. The

husband, who was better informed about personal finance, was bypassed. The real issue,

however, is the man's loss of power and control over his family. The CCB is thus the vehicle for

the State-induced shift of marital power from the husband to his wife. It highlights the State's

interest in single-mother African immigrant families.

Transnationalism: Romance and Economic Exchanges

Remittances back home represent a significant expenditure for most Ghanaian immigrant.

In Awoche's experience,

"Most of the influence is from Ghana; sometimes your parents or relatives call you to worry you for money. The two of us work, and at the end of the month, she sends her money to Ghana, while I use my money to pay the bills. It's not right. And the influence from the family, that since she got married, she has not been sending us money, or in the case of the men, the wife has taken control of him, so now he does not mind us" (Interview with Awoche).

Togbe, instead, saw the pressures from back home as a moral duty towards his parents.

"You see, as a man and firstborn, I have the responsibility to cater for my parents and younger siblings in school. Every month, I need to send money to them so that all the sweat they shed to cater for me does not go in vain. Besides, it is not nice among their neighbours that they have a son in Canada and are living like paupers, so I have to cater for their needs." (Interview with Togbe)

Filial responsibility towards parents serves as a form of pension for Ghanaian parents, particularly from firstborn sons. For Ghanaians, the main goal of migration is capital acquisition. Two key issues underpin participants' marital tensions: the failure to share common transnational goals and the tendency to outwit a spouse in pursuit of individual investments. This stems from in situ family pressures to invest in their hometown, even when the couple may have planned to invest in a different city.

Partner Selection and Marriage (Marriage of Inconvenience). The marriage market for a Ghanaian immigrant is quite limited and complicated. Participants usually choose a wife from Ghana. According to Ananse, he met and proposed to his wife before immigrating, but she refused his proposal. However, a few years after immigrating, they got in touch and started talking. After a few months, she accepted his proposal, so he decided to marry her and later sponsored her to join him.

The common thread in all the marriages was that the men had contracted traditional Ghanaian marriages in absentia, following relatively short and casual relationships. Considering the circumstances, it may be safe to conclude that the women were not committed to enduring marriages. The allure of emigrating to Canada was compelling. It is equally instructive to stress that, but for their immigrant status, these men would not have been able to woo such women. As a result, after arriving in Canada, they had achieved their ends-in-view of the marriage and only waited for the man to give them a reason for divorce. For the men, upon the wife's arrival, they ensure that the women bear multiple children within the first few years, as a strategy to commit the women to the marriage. However, for the women, the marriage was a conduit to emigrate to Canada and not borne out of a desire for marriage – a marriage of inconvenience.

The Economics of Spousal Sponsorship ("Squirrel's Work"). At the root of the 'woes' of the men is the fact that they had sponsored their spouses to Canada, the opportunity cost of which they could not live with for the rest of their lives. According to Ananse,

"I paid someone, a man like me, to go and bring her because he had documents, hoping that when she arrives, together we can make life better. Father! You know it is more difficult to be alone here" (Interview with Kwaku Ananse).

According to him, he had not yet met the immigration criteria to sponsor his wife to come to Canada. Instead of waiting, he negotiated with another man to sponsor his wife on his behalf. He spent the funds he could have used for hiring an immigration lawyer to litigate his case on the venture. He claimed he was compelled to do so because of his loneliness. He hoped that, with her companionship and support, he would be able to pay the lawyer to secure his documentation.

The above sentiments underscore the fact that, for immigrants, family sponsorship is not merely a matter of reuniting families – it is also an economic endeavour. It involves improving

the sponsor's finances by sharing bills and enhancing savings. It also improves the financial situation of the birth family left behind by supporting some of them to emigrate. It is, therefore, tantamount to breaking the chain of development within his birth family and the bonds therein when a man decides to sponsor his wife rather than a sibling. If, ultimately, the same woman divorces him, it is a 'double silencer' because the family back home, who would have been a source of support in situations of acculturative stress, would have ostracized him.

Shift from Family Life to Singlehood. Participants blamed social protection arrangements in Canada for their separation and divorce. Regarding marital problems;

"there is no effort or motivation to resolve it on the woman's side because the government will get her a free attorney while the man must pay for his; the judge and the system are set up, by default, to be against the man because the kids are by default going to her while the man will have to prove why they should come to him. That set the man up for the payment of child support to the woman.". (Interview with Togbe)

This illustrates the unintended consequences of social support. The direct recipient perceives it as more beneficial than marriage. Since paying bills is essential to Canadian life, family life is viewed as transactional. Reconciliation with an estranged husband whose income results in the loss of child benefits through cuts, as well as the loss of subsidized childcare, housing, and other benefits for single mothers - coupled with an increase in her marginal tax rate without equivalent support from the man - is seen as irrational. It is in this context that the men feel that the Prime Minister, representing the State, snatched their wives. The State is portrayed as a Don Juan (a fictional character dedicated to seducing women) amidst impoverished family communities, using benefits to lure women away from their husbands and thus dismantling families. It usurps power from fathers, alienating them from their families, so that the father is now seen as irrelevant. For a Ghanaian man, this represents the ultimate oppression and

denigration of fatherhood, as the decision to procreate stems from the duty to perpetuate his lineage and lay firm grounds for recognition as an ancestor after death. Without the ability to control and educate his children, there are no guarantees that his bloodline will endure. It may also be grounds for the angst of and an invitation from his ancestors.

Behind Enemy Lines. The findings aptly describe the thin line between love and hatred. When love died in their marriages, participants described how they found themselves at the receiving end of their wives' belligerence. Narrating how his wife sought to cause his imprisonment and deportation following a verbal altercation with her, Kwaku Ananse alleges that his wife faked assault injuries, blood stains and threats to murder her to cause his arrest.

"She told me I should pack and leave because I am not man enough, I have outlived my usefulness, I am not counted among men,I told her that I wouldn't leave because I rented the place, she should know I am the man in the house.... She told me we will see who is the boss in the house soon, I will kick you out just like uprooting cassava, everything will be like Saul on the Damascus road......she told me if you are deported to Ghana, you will be wiser and know not to mess up with me". (Interview with Ananse).

In his claim of innocence, Ananse praised the professionalism of the police officers who managed his case, which ultimately resulted in his acquittal. Although divorce and separation can be acrimonious, it can be inferred that, at the core of the accusations against the men, was an attempt by the women to extricate themselves from their marriages and avoid societal opprobrium. Since Ontario has a no-fault divorce law, one can only speculate about the motivations behind such actions other than seeking societal sympathy. This is because, among Ghanaians, one might be labelled as an ingrate or ostracized for divorcing the spouse who altered her and her birth family's fortunes. This functions as a form of social control over the actions of

sponsored spouses within the Ghanaian community, reinforcing Ghanaian norms. The women's intent to harm their husbands suggests that the men had previously physically assaulted them.

The ultimate losers. Winners in a divorce are difficult to come by, as many end up being very acrimonious with long-lasting effects. Kwaku Ananse swore never to marry again due to his experience with marriage in Canada. In his reasoning:

"If it is sex you need, those same women are available for free; they will even spend their money on you.....I mean those same women who divorce their husbands because of 'social' are there struggling and fighting among themselves for the men. Later on, after divorcing, they realize they need companionship. You know we were not brought up to 'live indoors' like poultry birds as things are here. So, after getting the money, they pay men to 'service them'. When you attend Ghanaian parties and funerals, there is something known as "The night is sweet", you will see how the women fight over men. So, why should I marry? Why do you buy the cow if all you need is the milk?" (Interview with Kwaku Ananse)

The allusion here is that divorce, in some circles, is viewed as a victorious and liberating outcome for women escaping the tyranny of male-dominated marriages. This stems from the belief that after divorce, a woman reclaims control over her body, life, and finances. However, women who seek divorce for various reasons, such as financial issues, abuse, or the pursuit of autonomy after acculturation, often end up as girlfriends of unfaithful husbands. This can be explained by the fact that Ghanaians are socialized to be interdependent. Therefore, even if they adopt multicultural and North American feminist gender ideals, which underpin their decision to divorce, they still cannot do without male companionship. Yet, they find it difficult to attract another husband from the community. As a result, they resort to attracting men with incentives. However, in the new relationship, the man has a free pass – he does not pay any bills or do domestic chores. Despite this, he enjoys regular Ghanaian meals prepared by the woman, her companionship, and libidinal services. Moreover, whenever he decides to end the relationship, he

does so without consequences or personal loss, unlike in marriage. The perceived victory of divorce, therefore, is superficial. Conversely, after divorce, some women, particularly those who have embraced North American feminist ideas about fixed gender roles and rejected gendered sexual double standards, choose to engage in non-committal and non-monogamous relationships in pursuit of self-gratification and happiness. This, ultimately, reveals a paradox in divorce.

The divorced men lose everything they built, their family, children, and property, in addition to their mental and physical health. It is safe to conclude that if men are the ultimate beneficiaries of marriage, gaining emotional, health, and financial stability, then they are also the biggest losers in divorce – they lose all they brought into and benefited from marriage.

When a couple undergoes a bitter separation or divorce, their children rarely avoid the consequences. Kwaku Ananse attributed truancy among children directly to divorce and the absence of a father figure in their lives, pointing out that single mothers often struggle to provide their children with the necessary attention and discipline.

Expressing similar sentiments, Togbe expected that the child support he pays to the exwife would encourage her to pay attention to the children, but that did not happen.

"After all the child support and alimony I pay to her, she does not take good care of the children, who are always roaming around. So, you ask yourself, why are the men put through all that torture? This is a man who wanted to work and take care of his children, but see where we are. The way they make single motherhood look is very deceptive. Child upbringing is a joint affair between a father and mother, not a mother-alone affair. That is why most of the children brought up by single mothers struggle with the law". (Interview with Togbe).

Child support recognises that raising a child is a joint responsibility of both parents.

Unfortunately, the process and principles guiding the award mainly focus on addressing the financial gap left by the absent parent. The law does not concern itself with how the custodial

parent spends the money. This raises a crucial question: Does a parent paying child support have the right to know how the funds are used? If the law aims to ensure fairness to the custodial parent through child support awards, why does it deny fairness to the one who pays by not requiring the custodial parent to account for the funds? Moreover, considering that alimony or spousal support may be granted when one spouse spends significant time caring for a child after divorce, in addition to child support, why does the court only focus on the payment without ensuring that its intended purpose is met? Similarly, why does the court not require specific outcomes for the child as conditions for continuing alimony payments? These shortcomings in the family court system suggest that the rules and their enforcement are not driven by fairness, justice, equality, or the best interests of children, but rather a façade to punish men for divorce. Again, this raises questions about the State's interests in the marriage and family institution.

Negative Coping Mechanisms/Impact of Divorce on Men. According to the men, events leading to and after divorce made them resort to unhealthy habits like excessive alcohol intake.

They were not oblivious to the adverse effects, but still engaged in it.

"She sought to embarrass and kill my soul, and nearly succeeded because I became a moth to alcohol. Life became meaningless. Because of that, I lost my job because I showed up at work smelling of alcohol on multiple occasions. My employers had no option but to fire me because of low output". (Interview with Awoche)

Reference to an attempt by the wife "to kill my soul" indicates a deeper inner emotional breakdown of the man. In Ghanaian culture, harm to one's soul signifies severe emotional damage that can only be healed through psychosomatic methods. Spiritual pacification of one's soul and spirit is key to restoration. Therefore, they need to go to Ghana but cannot afford it.

Others cannot go back to the same family they neglected for their wives.

Positive Coping Mechanisms. Following the tensions and divorce, participants developed various coping mechanisms to help them deal with the stress. The preferred strategy was attending Ghanaian social events, such as parties, funerals, outdooring ceremonies, and church services, as well as playing soccer with other men. However, one unique strategy a participant shared was the concept of smart divorce. In his descriptions, Yaw Obentin said:

"We are divorced but not divorced. I call it a smart divorce. If you go through formal processes to divorce, she will take you to the gallows, but if you play the fool and leave her to do whatever she wants, then at least you have your freedom. The entire court process revolves around two key issues: assets and custody of the children. Leave them to her and walk away, do your things and let her do hers. If you see her with another man, look the other way. My grandmother taught me that sometimes you have to behave like a vulture so that you can live a long life." (Yaw Obentin)

Seeking solace in social gatherings after a stressful situation is common among Ghanaians. It eases loneliness at home, especially on weekends and holidays, while fostering new bonds and relationships. Playing football with other men also gives divorced men the chance to fraternize with others on shared interests that help ease divorce challenges and exchange information.

Service Seeking Habits of Divorced Men. Surprisingly, all the participants have refused to seek professional mental health care, although they confirmed that they were experiencing some form of mental health problems. All Participants voiced their mistrust of the healthcare system as a reason. When asked if he had sought help, Kwaku Ananse said:

"Hmm a man does not cry!! I thought about it sometimes, but upon a second thought, I asked myself, do I really need it? A man with broken heart? How will these people look at me? Those services are not meant for the black African man. So, when I'm sad, I drink heavily and it calms my nerves so I can sleep". (Interview with Kwaku Ananse)

Other participants highlighted the stigma associated with having mental health issues within the Ghanaian community and the possibility of other people getting to know that they have accessed mental healthcare. In the words of Yaw Obentin:

"I am more or less like a madman. People tell me I am talking to myself every day. The worst part of this entire ordeal is that you become like a snail during the dry season. Who do you talk to about this issue here? If you go and see a psychiatrist, by the time you are aware they have injected you with 'lagatine' and heading towards the street or you won't be a human being again. Besides, you don't want everybody to hear your marriage matters". (Interview with Yaw Obentin).

'Lagatine injection' is a Ghanaian term for the antipsychotic drug, Largactil, chlorpromazine hydrochloride, which is notorious for its adverse effects. It represents a point of no return in mental health treatment. Participants used it to express their mistrust of biomedical approaches to mental health. Among Ghanaians, such mental health issues are best addressed through restoring, reconnecting, or replacing the dysfunctional social system that caused the condition. The view that acquaintances who underwent such treatments got worse highlights mistakes made by health workers when dealing with issues that are uniquely African. The experiences of family, friends, and acquaintances in accessing services when faced with a similar situation influence attitudes and choices.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the intersection of acculturative factors were significant in escalating tensions between immigrant couples, resulting in their separation or divorce. Paramount among them are unmet expectations regarding financial responsibilities, CCB and domestic chores when individual and family circumstances change. The inability to renegotiate family gender norms and embrace power dynamics is also critical. Canada's family sponsorship rules and

transnational pressures, particularly those related to investments and filial responsibilities of firstborn sons, represent different dimensions of acculturation stress.

Unfortunately, for some men, the honeymoon did not last after their wives embraced Canadian gender norms, entered the labour market or earned more. Losing their wives as a result of acculturative stress factors, financial inadequacy, infidelity, or resolvable marital issues represents a three-fold loss to them. The consequence usually is a long battle with mental health, for which they are not prepared to seek support because they do not trust the system. In response, some adopt negative coping mechanisms like substance and alcohol overuse. In contrast, others engage in more social activities such as playing soccer and attending social gatherings.

Chapter Five: Discussion

In this chapter, I present the main findings of the research and situate them within the context of existing research and Ghanaian culture. This is important because much of the findings are premised on Ghanaian culture, even though the physical context is Canadian.

Partner selection among Ghanaian immigrants in Canada is intricate; they prefer partners from Ghana, believing it alleviates acculturative stress. They express concerns that Western values have influenced the marriageability of immigrant Ghanaian women.

Immigrant couples adapting to the Canadian environment develop flexible financial and domestic management strategies. These arrangements often change in response to acculturative factors, requiring renegotiation to maintain stability. Three types of financial agreements have emerged, aligning with the works of Pahl (2005, 1994) and Vogler and Pahl (1994). However, a notable difference is the caveat that the spouse who controls the funds must be trusted. When a wife suspects or has evidence of infidelity, she takes control of the finances. In this context, the woman's role in managing money reflects her power and influence in the marriage, or, as posited by Kusow (2007), as an economic warlord, contrasting with Vogler and Pahl's view that it is a chore women detest. These arrangements blend traditional Ghanaian and Canadian marriage norms. They preserve aspects of male authority and align with Vogler and Pahl's independent management system. This reflects how they adapt into Canada's multicultural setting, embracing values of equity and privacy in marriage. It confirms Liem et al.'s (2021) view that host country economy and social context shape coping. However, contrasts with Cantillon's (2013) view that women tend to have significantly less private spending..

Despite imbibing Canadian multicultural values, the men did little domestic work. When they do, it is because of the pleasure they derive from the task as found by researchers (Bianchi et al., 2000, 2006; Kramer et al., 2015; Knop & Brewster, 2016). It was revealed that their wives often do not trust the results, deem the men incompetent for such tasks, or are scared of societal opprobrium. This confirms the gendered expectation theory, which posits that marital labour division goes beyond rational decisions and should be construed as a symbolic enactment of gendered relations and appropriate masculinity and femininity (Kramer et al., 2015).

Unequal power relations within these systems lead to marital tensions. When couples fail to honour agreements, tensions build up, accentuating acculturative stress. Gender norm ambivalence surrounding the sharing of financial burdens and domestic chores underlies discord between couples. Shockley and Allen's (2018) on the challenges of expectations of dual earner couples becomes clear here. This tension is further intensified by the precarious employment situation of immigrant men, as articulated by Menjivar (2006, 1999). This seemingly innocuous dilemma remains unresolved and continues to generate resentment between partners, reaffirming Carranza's (2019) theory on post-immigration financial pressures and the pressures faced by immigrant women to maintain dual identities, as well as the relaxation of patriarchal notions of gender identified by Menjivar (1999). Some Ghanaian immigrants assume sponsoring their wives to Canada entitles them to their wives' income (Nukunya, 2003). Such attempts are repudiated by their wives once the women have acculturated into Canadian society. Without communication and trusted kin support, this foments ongoing marriage tensions.

Due to acculturative stress, immigration challenges, precarious employment (George, 2000; Menjivar, 1999, 2006), and high living costs in Canada, most immigrant couples face financial difficulties. CCB funds worsen couple conflicts due to Ghanaian gender norm clashes with Canadian multicultural values on financial control. CRA primarily pays such funds to the mother (CRA, 2024). Therefore, the Welfare State takes over and tacitly hands over control of immigrant men's families and masculinity to their wives. Coupled with difficulties in communicating financial preferences to their partners and the absence of family support, this lays the foundations of divorce.

Ghanaian immigrants' transnational activities generate marital tensions. They maintain strong ties to their homeland by engaging in development, politics, and the economy (Anarfi et al., 2005; Blunt & Dowling, 2006; Firang, 2011). Couples avoid conflicts by pursuing shared transnational goals. Transnational tensions arise in two forms: deciding whose family to support first, and a spouse's reluctance to compromise on sacrificing family needs in the host country to support the other's commitments. Nonetheless, when immigrants are unable to assist, the resulting distress heightens their acculturative stress, anxiety, and trauma, especially if those in need pass away or lose opportunities. Moreover, a spouse's insistence on sponsoring their mothers for transnational grandparenting was a source of conflict. Echoing Zhou's (2018) findings, transnational grandparenting supports Ghanaian immigrant women in transitioning smoothly back into the labour market after maternity. However, it causes tension between couples when they lack the resources to support the venture, or when one spouse believes the money could be utilized differently. Without kin support in raising children in an unfamiliar culture, combined with limited childcare spots, family acculturative stress is heightened.

Numerous Ghanaian single mothers seek men for friends-with-benefits arrangements, consensual non-monogamous relationships, or living-apart-together relationships (Alarie, 2023; Lyssens-Danneboom & Mortelmans, 2014). They do not require the men to contribute to their domestic bills or chores, as they typically do not cohabit. However, problems arise when such men try to replicate this dynamic in their marital homes. As a result, their wives' resistance creates tension and rancour within the family. Considering male infidelity is alien to Ghanaian cultures due to polygyny, some Ghanaian women tolerate it, hoping to fend off the other women.

Some men hastily married, unaware that their bride still had boyfriends, as the allure of Canadian emigration and wealth attracted them. Once in Canada, they divorced their unworthy husbands to sponsor their Ghanaian lovers. This reflects Menjivar's (1999) work, where immigrant women hoped to leave unhelpful men after securing documentation. Social class issues are significant in some cases. The women became disillusioned after they discovered that the wealth the men displayed in Ghana was debt, not savings, and that they had to help pay those debts, as noted by Goode (2010). Some faced culture shock when life in Canada was more challenging than expected, requiring hard work to access necessities, which affirmed Carranza's (2019) views on the stress immigrant women face in managing dual identities.

The men blame Canadian social protection systems for the breakdown of their families. Their perception of the causes of divorce is akin to a wealthier man, the State, represented by the Prime Minister, snatching their wives from them. This supports the theory that welfare support is an incentive for divorce (Bastian, 2017; Hum & Choudhry, 1992; Lahey, 2000; Michelmore, 2016; Mitchell & Debruyn, 2019; Pentlands et al., 2021). This is achieved through institutional and peer indoctrination that replaces Ghanaian marital gender norms with Canadian charter freedoms, as aptly described by Donkor (2013). It is further compounded by police arrests based on false allegations made by the women (Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018) and unfair family court proceedings that insidiously alienate men from their families. These issues often stem from male violence that generates entrenched hatred (Smyth & Molony, 2017) from their wives. Immigrant women marshal State power, the courts, affirmative action laws, and the Welfare State to restrict men's access to their children. Some also manipulate the legal system to impoverish their former husbands, force the sale of family homes at lower prices, thus reducing the likelihood of the man

being granted custody of their children by the court. Ultimately, the State and its agents reinforce their discourse on the ideal immigrant woman, a strong single mother, and discount fatherhood.

After separation and divorce, the men experience trauma, stress, and mental health decline. They lose everything they valued in life: family, children, and a home. This is seen in Ghanaian parlance as a double silencer, considering the complexities of sponsoring a spouse to Canada (Dobrowolsky, 2011; Falconer, 2019). Some experience homelessness and rough living, exposing them to substance and drug use to cope. Others resort to excessive alcohol intake to manage stress, though it does not help, as Edward et al. (2018) theorized, leading to job loss. For Ghanaian men, this threatens their position within their lineages and their ancestor status. They often refuse to seek mental health support due to mistrust of the system. Some play soccer and engage in social events within the Ghanaian community as preferred coping strategies.

Based on their experiences and associated risks, the men have refused to marry again, as various researchers found (Leopald, 2018; Mnyango & Alpaslan, 2018; Scourfield & Evans, 2015). The emerging trend is to take a wife back home in Ghana without any intention of sponsoring them to Canada. These men build houses in Ghana for their families, close to their birth family members. In this way, their family is safeguarded by the security and safety of their cultural, marriage, and gender values.

From the above, it can be gleaned that Ghanaian marriages in Canada are a melting pot of ambivalence and conflict, primarily due to acculturative stress. These marriages do not emerge from typical relationships but rather stem from principles of exchange. They are founded on Ghanaian gender values that clash with Canadian multicultural values, and thus are likely to serve as breeding grounds for tension. The tensions that arise among these couples stem from

their inability to renegotiate financial commitments due to conflicting values. The pendulum of marital power has shifted towards women, yet men struggle to accept this change. In Ghana, this situation is inconceivable; however, in Canada, the State, through its institutions, is the source of women's power, which they do not hesitate to commandeer. This initiates a series of power plays, leading to the man's alienation from the home he established. Divorce proceedings, child support, and alimony involve individuals such as lawyers, judges, and the child's mother, profiting at the expense of the man's sweat, hard work, and suffering. Nothing devastates him more than the realization that his love for his children has become a weapon for his destruction.

The man who is seen and treated as very powerful in his marriage is actually not; he is a black man in Canada, earning slightly above minimum wage, with limited education. He cannot even support his family, and his wife earns considerably more than he does. When he ventures out, his efforts are thwarted by institutional racism. His earning capacity and value have diminished. Where does he seek solace? The home he toiled for and his children have been taken from him during a battle he was destined to lose. His new friends, alcohol and drugs, which were meant to comfort him, are both mocking him! Is that what it means to be a man?

Implications of the Research on Policy, Service Delivery and Social Work

This study provides clear cues that could enhance policymaking, particularly concerning child custody, income and housing support for disadvantaged families, and psychosocial and mental health treatment for divorced men of Ghanaian descent.

The field should genuinely be levelled so that both parents have a fair case for primary custody. Despite the rise of joint custody, many fathers are only granted weekend visits, rooted in the male breadwinner ideology. Options like alternating periodic custody should become

standard practice. Equal custody arrangements positively impact men's mental and physical health, as shown by Degarmo et al. (2010). Their research indicates that a strong fathering identity results in fewer health issues and reduced substance use.

The Welfare State in Canada should allocate support to dual-parent low-income families to reduce child poverty. Historically, single parents often face high poverty rates (Baker et al., 2023; Kesselman, 2019), yet most children in poverty live with both parents (Baker et al., 2023).

Marriage laws in Canada need revision to reflect modern relationships, which are based on transient factors like happiness and chemistry. Marriage should progress in stages, similar to Ontario's licensing system.

Furthermore, practitioners need to understand that among Ghanaians, when someone undergoes mental health treatment, the individual and their entire family may be stigmatized and ostracized. This attitude seldom changes with acculturation. Therefore, practitioners should avoid involving friends and neighbours in their care plans.

Family cohesion and financial success for newcomer families should be a priority for all levels of government, as this can lead to higher revenues and reduced burdens. I recommend that mandatory government-funded counselling be made available to newcomer couples and individuals as part of the welcoming process by Service Canada and the provinces and territories.

Limitations and Opportunities for Further Research

This study has notable limitations, particularly as it is a self-funded Master's thesis.

Firstly, the data is limited to Canadian men of Ghanaian origin, which prevents broad generalizations about all Canadians or Canadians of African ancestry. Additionally, while the

focus is on the marriage and divorce experiences of these men, their ex-spouses were not interviewed, which may result in some male-centric perspectives in the work. Therefore, this work should be seen as a starting point for further thought and research, rather than a comprehensive analysis. Other researchers with greater funding and experience can explore the issues raised in this work. They may go further to interview both ex-spouses to test or develop a new thesis on the themes that emerged in this work.

Epistemological Tensions

Reaching this point has been arduous due to my prior research training and background. I have been a student of the positivist school of thought, where I first developed my research skills. Enrolling in the McMaster MSW programme, I envisioned a smooth academic journey because I had an understanding of the choices I needed to make. In contrast, this research has involved unlearning what I knew and adopting a new perspective to make progress.

At every stage, I have revised paragraphs and chapters because I realized the product is positivist. I began this research from a feminist epistemological perspective, influenced by my matrilineal upbringing. However, after my first two interviews and reviews, it felt as if a male chauvinist was posing as a feminist. I questioned my fitness as a feminist. Reflecting on Carby (2007), I recognized that the intersection of racial, gender, and class oppression complicates my engagement with the experiences of women of colour, as I see myself as their comrade. I also wondered if I could effectively interview women, or women with their husbands or ex-husbands together.

References

- Acedera, K. A., & Yeoh, B. S. (2018). 'Making time': Long-distance marriages and the temporalities of the transnational family. *Current Sociology*, *67*(2), 250–272. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392118792927
- Acedera, K. A. F., & Yeoh, B. S. A. (2019). 'Until death do us part'? Migrant wives, left-behind husbands, and the negotiation of intimacy in transnational marriages. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 46(16), 3508–3525. https://doi.org/
- Acosta, M., van Wessel, M., Van Bommel, S., Ampaire, E. L., Twyman, J., Jassogne, L., & Feindt, P. H. (2020). What does it mean to make a 'joint' decision? Unpacking intrahousehold decision making in agriculture: Implications for policy and practice. *The journal of development studies*, 56(6), 1210-1229. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2019.1650169
- Aidoo, A. A. (1977). Asante queen mothers in government and politics in the nineteenth Century. *Journal of the Historical Society of Nigeria*, *9*(1), 1–13. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41857049

- Akurugu, C. A., Domapielle, M. K., & Jatoe, M. M. (2021). Bridewealth, Women's Subordination and Agency in Marriage: An ethnographic critique of gender activism in rural north-western Ghana. Journal of Asian and African Studies, 56(8), 1819-1833. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021909621992783
- Alaazi, D. A., Salami, B., Yohani, S., Vallianatos, H., Okeke-Ihejirika, P., & Nsaliwa, C. (2018).

 Transnationalism, parenting, and child disciplinary practices of African immigrants in

 Alberta, Canada. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 86, 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/
 i.chiabu.2018.09.013
- Alarie, M. (2023). Family and consensual non-monogamy: Parents' perceptions of benefits and challenges. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 86(2), 494–512. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12955
- Amediume, I. (2015). Male daughters, female husbands: Gender and sex in an African society.

 Zed Books Ltd.
- Amadiume, I. (1997). Re-Inventing Africa: Matriarchy, Religion and Culture. https://fulcrum.www.lib.umich.edu/concern/monographs/k930bx29s?locale=en
- Anarfi, J. K., Kwankye, S., & Ahiadeke, C. (2005). Migration, return and impact in Ghana. A comparative study of skilled and unskilled transnational mirants. In T. Manuh (Ed.), At home in the world? International migration and development in contemporary Ghana and West Africa (pp. 204–226). Accra: Sub-Saharan Publishers.
- Anderberg, D. (2008). Tax credits, income support, and partnership decisions. *International Tax* and *Public Finance*, 15(4), 499–526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10797-008-9078-8

- Arhin, B. (2000). The role of Nana Yaa Asantewaa in the 1900 Asante War of Resistance. http://people.ucalgary.ca/~taarn/LeGriot/article4.pdf
- Bailey, Z.D., Krieger, N., Agenor, M., Graves, J., et al. (2017). Structural racism and health inequities in the USA: evidence and interventions. *The Lancet*, 389(10077), 1453–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30569-X
- Baker, M., Messacar, D., & Stabile, M. (2023). Effects of Child Tax Benefits on Poverty and Labor Supply: Evidence from the Canada Child Benefit and Universal Child Care Benefit. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 41(4), 1129–1182. https://doi.org/10.1086/721379
- Baldassar, L. and Merla, L., (eds) (2014). Transnational Families, Migration and the Circulation of Understanding Mobility and Absence in Family Life, New York: Routledge.
- Basch, L., N. G. Schiller, and C. Blanc-Szanton. 1994. Nations Unbound: Transnational Projects, Postcolonial Predicaments and Deterritorialized Nation-States. Amsterdam: Overseas Publishers.
- Bastian, J. (2017). Unintended Consequences? More Marriage, More Children, and the EITC. *Proceedings. Annual Conference on Taxation and Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the National Tax Association*, 110, 1–56. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26794405
- Berry, J. W. (2017). Theories and models of acculturation. In The Oxford Handbook of Acculturation and Health. Schwartz, S. J. (ed), Jennifer Unger (ed). 15 28. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190215217.013.2
- Berry, J. W. (2013). Research on multiculturalism in Canada. International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 37(6), 663-675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2013.09.005.

- Berry, J. W. (2003). Conceptual approaches to acculturation. In K. M. Chun, P. Balls Organista, & G. Marín (Eds.), *Acculturation: Advances in theory, measurement, and applied research* (pp. 17–37). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10472-004
- Berry, J., Kim, U., Minde, T., & Mok, D. (1987). Comparative Studies of Acculturative Stress. *International Migration Review*, 21(3), 491–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/019791838702100303
- Bianchi, S. M., Milkie, M. A., Sayer, L. C., & Robinson, J. P. (2000). Is Anyone Doing the Housework? Trends in the Gender Division of Household Labor *. *Social Forces*, 79(1), 191–228. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/79.1.191
 - Bianchi, S. M., Robinson, J. P., & Milkie, M. A. (2006). Changing rhythms of American family life. Russell Sage Foundation
- Bishwakarma, R., Hunt, V. and Zajicek, A. (2007). Intersectionality and informed policy.

 Manuscript.
- Brown, E. M., & Tarasuk, V. (2019). Money speaks: Reductions in severe food insecurity follow the Canada Child Benefit. *Preventive Medicine*, *129*, 105876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105876
- Blunt, A., & Dowling, R. (2006). Home (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doiorg.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.4324/9780203401354
- Brosseau, L., Dewing, M., Legal and Social Affairs Division, & Parliamentary Information and Research Service. (2009). Canadian Multiculturalism. In *Library of Parliament*

- Background Papers (No. 2009-20-E). https://lop.parl.ca/staticfiles/PublicWebsite/Home/ResearchPublications/BackgroundPapers/PDF/2009-20-e.pdf
- Bryceson, D. F. (2019). Transnational families negotiating migration and care life cycles across nation-state borders. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 45(16), 3042–3064. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183x.2018.1547017.
- Burr, V. (2015). Social Constructionism (3rd ed.). Routledge.
- Burstein, N. R. (2007). Economic influences on marriage and divorce. *Journal of Policy Analysis* and Management, 26(2), 387–429. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.20257
- Caidi, N., & Allard, D. (2005). Social inclusion of newcomers to Canada: An information problem? *Library & Information Science Research*, 27(3), 302–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2005.04.003
- Canada Revenue Authority (2023). https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/cra-arc/formspubs/pub/t4114/t4114-22e.pdf
- Cantillon, S. (2013). Measuring Differences in Living Standards Within Households. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 75(3), 598–610. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23440903
- Cantillon, S., Maître, B., & Watson, D. (2016). Family financial management and individual deprivation. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *37*(3), 461–473. https://doiorg.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.1007/s10834-015-9466-z
- Carby, H. (2007). White woman listen! Black feminism and the boundaries of sisterhood. In *Routledge eBooks* (pp. 753–774). https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203357071-54
- Carpino, T. (2024, March 25). Prevalence of low income among persons in one-parent families headed by an immigrant parent: an intersectional analysis. Statistics Canada. Retrieved

- February 20, 2025, from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-20-0002/452000022024001-eng.htm
- Carter, S. M., & Little, M. (2007). Justifying Knowledge, Justifying Method, Taking Action: Epistemologies, Methodologies, and Methods in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(10), 1316–1328. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307306927
- Carvalho, J., Francisco, R., & Relvas, A. P. (2015). Family functioning and information and communication technologies: How do they relate? A literature review. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 45, 99–108. https://doi-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.037
- Chaze, F., Thomson, M. S., George, U., & Guruge, S. (2015). Role of Cultural Beliefs, Religion, and Spirituality in Mental Health and/or Service Utilization among Immigrants in Canada: A Scoping Review. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*, *34*(3), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.7870/cjcmh-2015-015
- Chesley, N. (2011). Stay-at-Home Fathers and Breadwinning Mothers. *Gender & Society*, 25(5), 642–664. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243211417433
- Çineli, B. (2020). Money management and gender equality: An analysis of dual-earner couples in Western Europe. *Family Relations*, 69, 803-819. https://doi-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.1111/fare.12465
- Cohen, O., & Finzi-Dottan, R. (2012). Reasons for Divorce and Mental Health Following the Breakup. Journal of Divorce & Remarriage, 53(8), 581–601. https://doi.org/10.1080/10502556.2012.719413

- Cobb-Clark, D. A., & Connolly, M. D. (2001). A family affair: The labor market experience of immigrant spouses. *Social Science Quarterly*, 82(4), 796–811. https://doi.org/
- Colley, R. C., Garriguet, D., Janssen, I., Craig, C. L., Clarke, J., & Tremblay, M. S. (2011).

 Physical activity of Canadian children and youth: accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey. *Health reports*, 22(1), 15.
- Cooke, L. P., Erola, J., Evertsson, M., Gähler, M., Härkönen, J., Hewitt, B., ... & Trappe, H. (2013). Labor and love: Wives' employment and divorce risk in its socio-political context. *Social Politics:* International Studies in Gender, State & Society, 20(4) 482-509.
- Çineli, B. (2020). Money management and gender equality: An analysis of dual-earner couples in Western Europe. Family Relations, 69, 803-819. https://doi-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.1111/fare.12465
- Cislaghi, B., & Heise, L. (2020). Gender norms and social norms: differences, similarities and why they matter in prevention science. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 42(2), 407–422. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.13008
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. (Third edition). Sage Publications.
- Cruz, C. (2001). Toward an epistemology of a brown body. *International Journal of Qualitative*Studies in Education, 14(5), 657–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390110059874

- Damo, D. D., & Cenci, C. M. B. (2021). Emotional Divorce: Similarities and Differences

 According to the Position Occupied. *Trends in Psychology*, 29(3), 505–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43076-021-00088-w
- D'Anna-Hernandez, K.L., Aleman, B., Flores, A.M., (2015). Acculturative stress negatively impacts maternal depressive symptoms in Mexican-American women during pregnancy.

 J. Affect. Disord. 176, 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2015.01.036
- Darden, J. T. (2004). The Significance of White Supremacy in the Canadian Metropolis of Toronto. http://ci.nii.ac.jp/ncid/BA68373976
- DeGarmo, D. S., Reid, J. B., Leve, L. D., Chamberlain, P. and Knutson, J. F., (2010). Patterns and Predictors of Growth in Divorced Fathers' Health Status and Substance Use.

 American Journal of Men's Health, 4(1), 5-85. https://doi.org/
- De Henau, J., & Himmelweit, S. (2013). Unpacking Within-Household Gender Differences in Partners' Subjective Benefits From Household Income. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 75(3), 611–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12027
- Dema-Moreno, S. (2009). Behind the negotiations: Financial decision-making processes in Spanish dual-income couples. *Feminist Economics*, 15(1), 27–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/13545700802620575
- Department of Justice (2022, December 28). *Selected Statistics on Canadian Families and Family Law: Second Edition*. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/fl-lf/famil/stat2000/p1.html

- Deutsch, F. M., & Gaunt, R. A. (2020). Creating equality at home: How 25 couples around the globe share housework and childcare. Cambridge University Press.
- Deutsch, F. M., Roksa, J., & Meeske, C. (2003). How gender counts when couples count their money. *Sex Roles*, 48(7-8), 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022982328840
- Deutsch, M. (2006). A Framework for Thinking About Oppression and Its Change. *Social Justice Research*, 19(1), 7–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-006-9998-3
- Dew, J. (2008). Debt Change and Marital Satisfaction Change in Recently Married Couples. Family Relations, 57(1), 60-71. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00483.x
- Dobrowolsky, A. (2011). The Intended and Unintended Effects of a New Immigration Strategy:

 Insights From Nova Scotia's Provincial Nominee Program. *Studies in Political Economy*, 87(1), 109–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/19187033.2011.11675022
- Donkor, M. (2013). "I'm Divorcing Because I Drank Lake Ontario": Marital Breakdown in Ghanaian Immigrant Families in Toronto. *Southern Journal of Canadian Studies*, *5*(1), 241 254. https://doi.org/10.22215/sjcs.v5i1.297
- Driscoll, M. W., & Torres, L. (2022). Cultural adaptation profiles among Mexican-descent Latinxs: Acculturation, acculturative stress, and depression. Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology, 28(2), 248-258. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000503
- Du, H., & Li, X. (2013). Acculturation and HIV-related sexual behaviours among international migrants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Psychology Review*, *9*(1), 103–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2013.840952

- Ducu, V. (2013). Romanian Migrant Women's Response to Their Discrimination. In *VS Verlag* $f\ddot{u}r \ Sozialwissenschaften \ eBooks(pp. \ 195-212). \ https://doi.org/$ $10.1007/978-3-531-94127-1 \ 10$
- Ducu, V. (2018). Afterword: Gender Practices in Transnational Families. In *International*perspectives on migration (pp. 191–204). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90942-4_12
- Dunn, M. G., Rochlen, A. B., & O'Brien, K. M. (2011). Employee, Mother, and Partner. *Journal of Career Development*, 40(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845311401744
- Edmonds, W. A., & Kennedy, T. D. (2017). An applied guide to research designs: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (2nd edition.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Edwards, A. C., Larsson Lönn, S., Sundquist, J., Kendler, K. S., & Sundquist, K. (2018).

 Associations between divorce and onset of drug abuse in a Swedish national sample.

 American Journal of Epidemiology, 187(5), 1010-1018. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx321
- Emirbayer, M., & Desmond, M. (2015). The Racial Order. The University of Chicago Press.
- Enchautegui, M. E., & Menjívar, C. (2015). Paradoxes of Family Immigration Policy:

 Separation, Reorganization, and Reunification of Families under Current Immigration

 Laws. *Law & Policy*, *37*(1–2), 32–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/lapo.12030
- Esping-Andersen, G. (2016). Families in the 21st century. SNS Förlag.
- Evans-Pritchard, E. E. (1940). *The Nuer of the southern Sudan*. International African Institute.

 Oxford University Press.

- Evans-Pritchard, E. E. (1940). *The Nuer: a description of the modes of livelihood and political institutions of a Nilotic people*. At the Clarendon Press.
- Evans-Pritchard, E. E. (1948). Nuer Marriage Ceremonies. *Africa*, *18*(1), 29–40. https://doi.org/10.2307/3180465
- Falconer, R. (2019). Slow, Subjective and Stressful: A Guide to Canada's Asylum System. The School of Public Policy Publications (Online), 12. https://doi.org/10.11575/sppp.v12i0.68309
- Family Law Act (1990). e-Laws Ontario.ca. (n.d.). https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90f03/v6
- Farber, M. (1943). The foundation of phenomenology: Edmund Husserl and the quest for a rigorous science of philosophy (Vol. 9). Transaction Publishers.
- Fédération des associations de familles monoparentales et recomposées du Québec. (2022). 7

 QUESTIONS pour les candidat.e.s des différents partis politiques pour mettre les

 FAMILLES MONOPARENTALES ET RECOMPOSÉES au cœur de la campagne électorale.
- Fine, M. (2006). Bearing Witness: Methods for Researching Oppression and Resistance--A Textbook for Critical Research. *Social Justice Research*, *19*(1), 83–108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-006-0001-0
- Firang, D. Y. (2011). Transnational activities and their impact on achieving a successful housing career in Canada: The case of Ghanaian immigrants in Toronto. Unpublished PhD thesis.
- Fisher, H. (2013). The Effect of Marriage Tax Penalties and Subsidies on Marital Status. *Fiscal Studies*, *34*(4), 437–465. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5890.2013.12015.x.

- Fook, J. (2003). Critical Social Work: The Current Issues. *Qualitative Social Work: QSW:**Research and Practice, 2(2), 123–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325003002002001
- Fortes, M. (2015). The political system of the Tallensi of the Northern Territories of the Gold Coast. In E. E. Evans-Pritchard & M. Fortes (Eds.), *African political systems* (pp. *239*-253). Routledge_ https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315683461
- Fortes, M. (2015). Kinship and marriage among the Ashanti. In A.R. Radcliffe-Brown and D. Forde (Eds.), *African systems of kinship and marriage* (pp. 252-284). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315683461
- García Román, J. (2020). The division of gender roles in female breadwinner couples in the United States and Spain. *Revista Española De Investigaciones Sociológicas*, 170, 73–94. https://doi-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.5477/cis/reis.170.73.
- George, S. (2000). "Dirty nurses" and "men who play": Gender and class in transnational migration. In Burawoy et al., (2000). Global Ethnography: Forces, Connections, and Imaginations in a Postmodern World, 144-74.
- Gergen, K. J. (1999). An invitation to social construction. Sage.
- Gergen, K. J. (2001). Social construction in context. Sage.
- Ghana Customary Marriage and Divorce (Registration) Law. (1985). Resource Equity. https:// resource equity.org/record/1772-ghana-customary-marriage-and-divorce-registration-law/
- Ghana Marriages Act. (1985). Resource Equity. https://resourceequity.org/record/1581-ghana-marriages-act/
- Ghana Statistical Service (2012). Ghana 2021 Population and housing census: General report Volume 3C. Ghana Statistical Service. https://census2021.statsghana.gov.gh/

- subreport.php?readreport=NTI3ODI4NDAuNzUz&Ghana-2021-Population-and-Housing-Census-General-Report-Volume-3C
- Gill, M.J. (2020). Phenomenological approaches to research, in Mik-Meyer, N. and Järvinen, M (Eds.) Qualitative Analysis: Eight approaches, London: Sage, pp. 73-94.
- Gómez Cervantes, A., Menjívar, C., & Staples, W. G. (2017). "Humane" Immigration Enforcement and Latina Immigrants in the Detention Complex. Feminist Criminology, 12(3), 269-292. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557085117699069
- Goode, J. (2010). The role of gender dynamics in decisions on credit and debt in low income families. *Critical Social Policy*, 30(1), 99-119. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261018309350810
- Government of Canada, Department of Justice (2022, December 28). Selected Statistics on Canadian Families and Family Law: Second Edition. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/fl-lf/famil/stat2000/p1.html.
- Griffiths, R. (2017). No Love on the Dole: The Influence of the UK Means-tested Welfare System on Partnering and Family Structure. *Journal of Social Policy*, 46(3), 543–561. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0047279417000046
- Guy-Sheftall, B. (2003). African feminist discourse: a review essay. *Agenda* (Durban), 17(58), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10130950.2003.9674490
- Guthridge, M., Kirkman, M., Penovic, T., & Giummarra, M. J. (2022). Promoting Gender

 Equality: A Systematic Review of Interventions. *Social Justice Research*, *35*(3), 318–343.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-022-00398-z
- Hankivsky, O., & Christoffersen, A. (2008). Intersectionality and the determinants of health: a

- Canadian perspective. *Critical Public Health*, *18*(3), 271–283. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09581590802294296
- Hankivsky, O., & Cormier, R. (2011). Intersectionality and Public Policy: Some Lessons from Existing Models. *Political Research Quarterly*, *64*(1), 217–229. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1065912910376385.
- Himmelweit, S., Santos, C., Sevilla, A., & Sofer, C. (2013). Sharing of Resources Within the Family and the Economics of Household Decision Making. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 75(3), 625–639. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12032
- Hiyoshi, A., Fall, K., Netuveli, G., & Montgomery, S. (2015). Remarriage after divorce and depression risk. *Social Science & Medicine*, 141, 109-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.socscimed.2015.07.029
- Hoynes, H. W., & Patel, A. J. (2017). Effective Policy for Reducing Poverty and Inequality? *The Journal of Human Resources*, *53*(4), 859-890. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.53.4.1115.7494r1
- Hum, D., Choudhry, S. (1992). Income, Work and Marital Dissolution: Canadian Experimental Evidence. Journal of Comparative Family Studies. 23(2) 250
- Hurley, M. C. (2005). Bill C-38: The civil marriage act. Legislative Summary, Library of

 Parliament, Bibliothèque du Parlement, & Parliamentary Information and Research

 Service. https://lop.parl.ca/staticfiles/PublicWebsite/Home/ResearchPublications/

 LegislativeSummaries/PDF/38-1/c38-e.pdf (Original work published 2005)
- Idstad, M., Torvik, F. A., Borren, I., Rognmo, K., Røysamb, E., & Tambs, K. (2015). Mental distress predicts divorce over 16 years: the HUNT study. BMC Public Health, 15. https://

- doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1662-0
- Intestate Succession Law (1985) Provisional National Defence Council Law 111. https://new-ndpc-static1.s3.amazonaws.com/CACHES/PUBLICATIONS/2016/09/04/
 INTESTATE+SUCCESSION+LAW,+1985+(PNDCL+111).pdf
- Jennifer, R., & Lindsay M, T. (2023). The Canada Disability Benefit: Battling Abelism in Design and Implementation. *Munich Personal RePEc Archive*. (n.d.). https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/117029/
- Kendler, K. S., Lönn, S. L., Salvatore, J., Sundquist, J., & Sundquist, K. (2017). Divorce and the Onset of Alcohol Use Disorder: A Swedish Population-Based Longitudinal Cohort and Co-Relative Study. The American Journal of Psychiatry, 174(5), 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16050589
- Kesselman, J. R. (2019). Policy options for retargeting the Canada child benefit. *Canadian Public Policy*, 45(3), 310-328.
- Khamis, N., Ayuso, L. (2021). Female Breadwinner: More Egalitarian Couples? An International Comparison. *J Fam Econ Iss* **43**, 534-545 (2022). https://doi-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.1007/s10834-021-09784-2
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K. (2018). Marriage, divorce, and the immune system. *American Psychologist*, 73(9), 1098–1108. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000388
- Knop, B., & Brewster, K. L. (2016). Family Flexibility in Response to Economic Conditions: Fathers' Involvement in Child-Care Tasks. Journal of Marriage and Family, 78(2), 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12249

- Kołodziej-Zaleska, A., & Przybyła-Basista, H. (2016). Psychological well-being of individuals after divorce: the role of social support. *Current Issues in Personality Psychology*, *4*(4), 206–216. https://doi.org/10.5114/cipp.2016.62940
- Konadu-Agyemang, K. (1999). Characteristics and migration experience of Africans in Canada with specific reference to Ghanaians in Greater Toronto. *Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe Canadien*, 43(4), 400-414. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.1999.tb01397.x
- Kramer, K. Z., Kelly, E. L., & McCulloch, J. B. (2015). Stay-at-home fathers: Definition and characteristics based on 34 years of CPS data. *Journal of family Issues*, *36*(12), 1651-1673. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X13502479
- Kramer, K. Z., & Kramer, A. (2016). At-Home Father Families in the United States: Gender Ideology, Human Capital, and Unemployment. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 78(5), 1315–1331. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12327
- Lahey, K. A. (2000). The Benefit/penalty unit in income tax policy diversity and reform. Law Commission of Canada.
- LeBaron, A. B., Holmes, E. K., Yorgason, J. B., Hill, E. J., & Allsop, D. B. (2019). Feminism and Couple Finance: Power as a Mediator Between Financial Processes and Relationship Outcomes. Sex Roles, 81(3–4), 140–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-018-0986-5
- Lee, J. P., Lee, R. M., & Tran, A. G. (2017). Theory and Measurement of Foreigner. *The Oxford Handbook of acculturation and Health*, 143.

- Lee, R. M. (2005). Resilience against discrimination: Ethnic identity and other-group orientation as protective factors for Korean Americans. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(1), 36-44.
- Leopold, T. (2018). Gender differences in the consequences of divorce: A study of multiple outcomes. *Demography*, *55*(3), 769-797. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-018-0667-6
- Levitt, P. (2001). The Transnational Villagers (Vol. 4). University of California Press.
- Li, J., & Neborak, J. (2018). Tax, Race, and Child Poverty: The Case for Improving the Canada Child Benefit Program. *Journal of Law and Social Policy*, 28(1), 67–96. https://doi.org/10.60082/0829-3929.1345
- Liem, A., Renzaho, A. M., Hannam, K., Lam, A. I., & Hall, B. J. (2021). Acculturative stress and coping among migrant workers: A global mixed-methods systematic review. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, *13*(3), 491-517.
- Lindová, J., Průšová, D., & Klapilová, K. (2020). Power Distribution and Relationship Quality in Long-Term Heterosexual Couples. Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy, 46(6), 528–541. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2020.1761493
- Lott, Y. (2017). When my money becomes our money: Changes in couples' money management. *Social Policy and Society*, 16(2), 199–218. https://doi-org.libaccess.lib.mcmaster.ca/10.1017/S1474746415000688

- Lyonette, C., & Crompton, R. (2015). Sharing the load? Partners' relative earnings and the division of domestic labour. Work, Employment and Society, 29(1), 23-40. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017014523661
- Lyssens-Danneboom, V., & Mortelmans, D. (2014). Living Apart Together and Money: New Partnerships, Traditional Gender Roles. Journal of Marriage and Family, 76(5), 949–966. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12136
- Malinowski, B. (2001). *Sex and Repression in savage society* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315013244
- Mason, J. (2002). Qualitative researching. (2nd edition). Sage Publications.
- May, P. (2021). Canada: the standard bearer of multiculturalism in the world? An analysis of the Canadian public debate on multiculturalism (2010–2020). *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 45(10), 1939–1960. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2021.1977366
- Menjívar, C. (1999). The intersection of work and gender. American Behavioral Scientist, 42(4), 601–627. https://doi.org/10.1177/00027649921954381
- Menjívar, C. (2006). Liminal legality: Salvadoran and Guatemalan immigrants' lives in the United States. *American Journal of Sociology*, 111(4), 999–1037. https://doi.org/10.1086/499509
- Menjívar, C., Agadjanian, V., & Oh, B. (2020). The Contradictions of Liminal Legality: Economic attainment and civic engagement of Central American immigrants on temporary protected status. *Social Problems*, 69(3), 678–698. https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spaa052

- Menjívar, C., Cervantes, A. G., & Alvord, D. (2018a). Two Decades of Constructing Immigrants as Criminals. In *Routledge eBooks* (pp. 193–204). https://doi.org/
- Menjívar, C., Cervantes, A. G., & Alvord, D. (2018b). The expansion of "crimmigration," mass detention, and deportation. *Sociology Compass*, *12*(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12573
- Mensah, J., & Williams, C. J. (2013). Ghanaian and Somali Immigrants in Toronto's Rental Market: A Comparative Cultural Perspective of Housing Issues and Coping Strategies. *Canadian Ethnic Studies*, *45*(1-2), 115–141. https://doi.org/10.1353/ces.2013.0013
- Merla, L., Kilkey, M., Wilding, R., & Baldassar, L. (2021). Key developments and future prospects in the study of transnational families. In *Edward Elgar Publishing eBooks*. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788975544.00040
- Michelmore, K. (2016). The earned income tax credit and union formation: The impact of expected spouse earnings. *Review of Economics of the Household*, *16*(2), 377–406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-016-9348-7
- Min, P. G. (2001). Changes in Korean Immigrants' Gender Role and Social Status, and Their Marital Conflicts. Sociological Forum (Randolph, N.J.), 16(2), 301–320. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011056802719
- Mitchell, P. J. and Debruyn, R. (2019). The Pros and cons of Canada's child benefits. *Institute for family studies*. https://ifstudies.org/blog/the-pros-and-cons-of-canadas-child-benefit
- Mnyango, R. P., & Alpaslan, A. H. (2018). Let's talk about divorce-men's experiences, challenges, coping resources and suggestions for social work support. *Social Work*/

- Maatskaplike Werk, 54(1). https://doi.org/10.15270/54-1-615
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. SAGE.
- Nazroo, J. Y., Bhui, K. S., & Rhodes, J. (2020). Where next for understanding race/ethnic inequalities in severe mental illness? Structural, interpersonal and institutional racism.

 Sociology of Health & Illness, 42(2), 262–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.13001
- Neuman, W.L. (2011) Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. (7th Ed.). Pearson, Boston.
- Nguyen, A. D., & Benet-Martínez, V. (2013). Biculturalism and Adjustment. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 44(1), 122–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022111435097
- Nnaemeka, O. (1998). Sisterhood, Feminisms, and Power: From Africa to the Diaspora.

 Trenton, NJ: Africa World Press
- Nukunya, G. K. (2003). *Tradition and change in Ghana: An introduction to Sociology*. (2nd ed.). Ghana Universities Press.
- O'Brien, M., & Wall, K. (2016). Fathers on Leave Alone: Setting the Scene. In *Life course*research and social policies (pp. 1–10). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-42970-0_1
- Opotow, S. (2002). Psychology of impunity and injustice: Implications for social reconciliation.

 Post conflict justice, 201-216. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004479579_012
- Pahl, J. (1989). Money and marriage. Houndmills, UK: Macmillan Education.
- Pahl, J. (2004, September). Individualization and patterns of money management within families.

 In Paper presented at the 2004 ESPAnet Conference, University of Oxford (pp. 9-11).
- Pahl, J. (2005). Individualisation in Couple Finances: Who Pays for the Children? International Game Theory Review, 4(4), 381–391. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474746405002575

- Parker, P. (2015). The Historical Role of Women in Higher Education. *Administrative Issues Journal Education Practice and Research*, *5*(1). https://doi.org/10.5929/2015.5.1.1
- Pentland, M., Cohen, E., Guttmann, A., & de Oliveira, C. (2021). Maximizing the impact of the Canada Child Benefit: Implications for clinicians and researchers. Paediatrics & Child Health, 26(4), 214-217. https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8274510/pdf/
 pxaa092.pdf
- Pepin, J. R., & Cohen, P. N. (2021). Nation-Level Gender Inequality and Couples' Income

 Arrangements. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 42(1), 13–S28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-020-09717-5
- Pettigrew, T. F. (2021). Contextual social psychology: Reanalyzing prejudice, voting, and intergroup contact. American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/
- Phinney, J. S. (1990). Ethnic identity in adolescents and adults: Review of research.

 *Psychological bulletin, 108(3) 499-514.
- Pinho, M., Gaunt, R., & Gross, H. (2021). Caregiving Dads, Breadwinning Mums: Pathways to the Division of Family Roles Among Role-Reversed and Traditional Parents. Marriage & Family Review, 57(4), 346–374. https://doi.org/10.1080/01494929.2021.1875102
- PNDC Law 111. (1985). Customary Marriage and Divorce (Registration) Law. https:// resourceequity.org/record/1772-ghana-customary-marriage-and-divorce-registration-law/.

- Poeze, M. (2019). Beyond breadwinning: Ghanaian transnational fathering in the Netherlands. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 45(16), 3065–3084. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183x.2018.1547019
- Portes, A., & Rumbaut, R. G. (2001). Legacies: The story of the immigrant second generation.

 Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Portes, A., & Rumbaut, R. G. (2006). Immigrant America: A portrait (3rd ed.). Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Randles, J. (2022). Addressing diaper need as racial stratification through intersectional family justice. Journal of Marriage and Family, 84(5), 1408–1426. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12847
- Schwartz, S. J., Birman, D., Benet-Martínez, V., & Unger, J. B. (2017). Biculturalism:

 Negotiating multiple cultural streams. The Oxford handbook of acculturation and health,

 29-47. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190215217.013.2
- Scourfield, J., & Evans, R. (2015). Why Might Men Be More at Risk of Suicide After a Relationship Breakdown? Sociological Insights. American Journal of Men's Health, 9(5), 380–384. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988314546395
- Seale, C. (2012). Sampling in qualitative research. In Becker et al. (2012). (Eds). Understanding research for social policy and social work: Themes, methods and approaches. (2nd Ed) The Policy Press and the Social Policy Association. Page 286-290.
- Shockley K. M., & Allen T. D. (2018). It's not what I expected: The association between dual-earner couples' met expectations for the division of paid and family labor and well-being.

 Journal of Vocational Behavior. 104, 240-260. DOI: 10.1016/J.Jvb.2017.11.009

- Skogrand, L., Johnson, A. C., Horrocks, A. M., & DeFrain, J. (2011). Financial Management Practices of Couples with Great Marriages. Journal of Family and Economic Issues, 32(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-010-9195-2
- Smyth, B. M., & Moloney, L. J. (2017). Entrenched Postseparation Parenting Disputes: The Role of Interparental Hatred? This work was supported by an Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (No. FT110100757) awarded to Smyth. *Family Court Review*, *55*(3), 404–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcre.12294
- Sparham, E. B. (2019, April 5). *Breadwinning Mothers: The Lived Realities Between Work and Home*. Figshare. https://hdl.handle.net/2381/44856
- Starks, H., & Trinidad, S. B. (2007). Choose Your Method: A Comparison of Phenomenology, Discourse Analysis, and Grounded Theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, *17*(10), 1372–1380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307307031
- Statistics Canada (2017, August 2). *Census in Brief: Portrait of children's family life in Canada in 2016*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/
 https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/
- Statistics Canada. (2020, July 6). Why are Lower-income Parents Less Likely to Open an RESP

 Account? The Roles of Literacy, Education and Wealth. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/
 pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2020012-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2022, March 9). *The Daily A fifty-year look at divorces in Canada, 1970 to 2020*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220309/dq220309a-eng.htm.

- Sullivan, E. J. (2019). The Development and Validation of the MAWW: A Measure to Assess Men's Allyhood Toward Women in the Workplace. Florida International University.
- Symoens, S., Van De Velde, S., Colman, E., & Bracke, P. (2014). Divorce and the Multidimensionality of Men and Women's Mental Health: The Role of Social-Relational and Socio-Economic Conditions. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-013-9239-5
- Tichenor, V. J. (1999). Status and Income as Gendered Resources: The Case of Marital Power. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *61*(3), 638. https://doi.org/10.2307/353566
- Tichenor, V. J. (2005). Dollar Rich and Power Poor: Why Wives Do Not Control the Money. In Earning More and Getting Less: Why Successful Wives Can't Buy Equality (pp. 68–89).

 Rutgers University Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt5hj6bg.8
- Vargha, L., Gal, R., & Crosby-Nagy, M., (2015). Household production and consumption over the lifecycle: the National Time Transfer Accounts in 14 European countries. DOI: 10.4054/DemRes.2017.36.32
- Vogler, C., & Pahl, J. (1994). Money, power and inequality within marriage. The Sociological Review (Keele), 42(2), 263–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-954X.1994.tb00090.x
- Young, C. (2020). Interlocking systems of oppression and privilege impact African Australian health and well-being in greater Melbourne: A qualitative intersectional analysis. *Journal of Social Issues*, 76(4), 880–898. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12407
- Umberson, D., & Williams, C. (1993). Divorced Fathers: Parental Role Strain and Psychological Distress. Journal of Family Issues, 14(3), 378–400. https://doi.org/10.1177/019251393014003003

- Ward, C., Szabó, Á., Schwartz, S. J., & Meca, A. (2020). Acculturative stress and cultural identity styles as predictors of psychosocial functioning in Hispanic Americans. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 80, 274–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2020.12.002
- Whitley, R. (2021). Men's Issues and Men's Mental Health. In *Springer eBooks*. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-86320-3
- Zhou, Y. R. (2010). The phenomenology of time: Lived experiences of people with HIV/AIDS in China. *Health and Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health Illness and Medicine*, *14*(3), 310–325. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459309358596
- Zhou, Y. R. (2018). Transnational grandparenting: the intersection of transnationalism and translocality. In *Policy Press eBooks*(pp. 113–130). https://doi.org/



Appendix A: Recruitment Poster PARTICIPANTS NEEDED FOR A RESEARCH ON THE TOPIC:

Canada Child Benefits and Family Tensions: Insights from Ghanaian Immigrants in Hamilton

Participants: the main characteristics of the volunteers for the study are first generation Ghanaian immigrant men who are married to (or were married to) a first generation Ghanaian woman. Have or previously had children below 18 years for whom child (or family) benefits are/were paid. (If you were born, bred and grew up in Ghana and the first or among the first people in your family to come to Canada then you are a first generation immigrant)

Research Methodology: You would be asked to participate in a onetime one-on-one individual interview to share your experiences about gender roles in Ghana and how they are practised in Canada. You will also be asked about your experiences on tensions in the family about the Canada child (or family) benefits. Apart from these, you will also be asked to share your experiences about financial decision making in your family/marriage and how it generate tensions/conflicts in marriages/families in Canada.

The interview will last for about an hour and will be in English or Twi which ever you prefer at a location you are comfortable with. But if you do not want to have a face-to-face interview and prefer a telephone or skype/FaceTime interview you can still participate in the study. I will, with your permission, audiotape the interview and take notes during the interview.

Your views and identity will be **completely confidential** and will be used for **research purposes only.** You will not be obliged to answer any question you deem uncomfortable and you are free to quite at any point without any obligation or questions.

For more information about this study, or to volunteer for this study, please contact:

Nana Baffour Awuah-Gyau

Department of Social Work
647 887 8605 or

Email: awuahgnb@mcmaster.ca

This study has been reviewed by, and received ethics clearance by the McMaster Research Ethics Board.

Appendix B

Interview Questions

Canada child benefits and family tensions: Insights from Ghanaian immigrants in Hamilton Nana B. Awuah-Gyau, (Master of Social Work student)

(Department of Social Work – McMaster University)

Information about these interview questions: This is meant to give you a fair idea what I wish to know about your experiences as a father and husband. Interviews will be one-to-one and will be open-ended (not just "yes or no" answers). Because of this, the exact wording may change a little. During the interview, I will also use short questions to make sure I understand what you told me or if I need more information when we are talking such as: "So, you are saying that ...?, to get more information ("Please tell me more?"), or to learn what you think or feel about something ("Why do you think that is...?").

Part I: Information about you:

What is your age now?
Are you married?
Do you have children and how old are they?
Do you live with your family?
How was the process of your journey to Canada like?

Part II:

How does Ghanaian cultural roles of men and women influence immigrant couples' decisions about child Benefits?

- a. In your view, how do couples traditionally in Ghana take financial decisions at home
 - **Prompts**: who, when, process
- b. How do (did) you take such decisions, here in Canada, generally and specifically about the child benefits?
 - > **Prompts**: who, when, process and arrangements

How does the Child benefit being paid to the woman influence/affect the man's attitude/perception of fatherhood and being a husband (masculinity)?

- a. What are your views about child benefits being paid to the woman?
- b. Tell me about your experience with child benefits in your family Prompts: Responsibilities/rights/privileges as a husband
- c. Tell me about your experience with child benefits and your family Prompts: Responsibilities/rights/privileges as a father

To what extent has Canadian culture influenced participants' gender roles and what are the new cultural (blend of Ghanaian-Canadian) gender roles of immigrants?

- a. Compared to Ghana, how has Canadian culture changed your roles as a husband and a father
- b. Looking at the life of Ghanaians in Canada which area has it influence the traditional roles of men and women in a family/marriage
- c. How do you think these new roles will survive if these immigrants were to return home?

Is there something important we forgot? Is there anything else you think I need to know about child benefits?

END

Appendix C Nana Baffour Awuah-Gyau

Canada Child Benefits and Family Tensions: Insights from Ghanaian Immigrants in Hamilton Counselling Services Information Sheet

- Here is a list of services where you can find someone to talk to, if you have something on your mind.
- If, at this time, you aren't ready to use one of these services, you might want to talk to a trusted family member or friend that you would normally go to when you have something on your mind.

Distress Centre Hamilton

The Distress Centre Hamilton, offers 24 hour telephone support, crisis intervention, and referral to other agencies where appropriate, for people in distress. This Centre is staffed by trained volunteers.

<u>24 Hour Crisis Line</u>: You will speak to a trained volunteer. The line may be busy at times but this number is in service. 905-522-8611

Salvation Army 24-Hour Suicide Hotline:

Tel. 905-522-1477

Web: www.hopesalive.ca

Retrouvaille

Retrouvaille is a worldwide organization whose main goal is to save troubled marriages and keep families together designed to help heal and renew couples who are in trouble with their marriage, including those who are separated or divorced.

Retrouvaille Hamilton is Roman Catholic in origin but is open to ALL FAITH DENOMINATIONS and is a registered non-profit charitable organization supporting all married couples.

Teresa Hartnet retrouvaille.hamilton@cogeco.ca (leave message) 1-905-664-5212

Catholic Family Services of Hamilton

Couple, family, individual, and group counseling services provided on a sliding scale. Issues addressed may include: Couple/relationship conflict, separation, reconciliation, family violence, sexual abuse, parent-child difficulties, adolescent adjustment, problems of the elderly, emotional stress and individual adjustment problems and referral services.

Intake Coordinator intake@cfshw.com
Tel: 905-527-3823



Appendix D

Canada Child Benefits and Family Tensions: Insights from Ghanaian Immigrants in Hamilton Researcher: Nana B. Awuah-Gyau

Oral Consent Script

Introduction:

Hello. I'm *Nana Baffour Awuah-Gyau and* I am undertaking a research for a thesis as part of the requirements for a Master of Social Work degree at McMaster University, Hamilton. I'm working under the direction of Prof. Mirna E. Carranza of McMaster's department of Social work.

My study seeks to discover the experiences of immigrant Ghanaian men with child benefits. It aims at understanding the nature and sources of tensions/conflicts in families and marriages that arise as a result of Child benefits and how Canadian culture has impacted on Ghanaian immigrants' views of gender roles at home. It particularly attempts to bring to the forefront the evolving cultural gender roles among Ghanaian immigrants in Canada.

What will happen during the study?

I'm inviting you to do a onetime one-on-one interview in Twi or English that will last for about an hour. The interviews will start on 2 May 2014 and end on 31 May 2014. If you decide to participant you will have the opportunity to suggest a convenient time of the day and location. (Example, public places like cafe, public library or your home)

The interview will be recorded (audio only) and I will write notes with your permission. I will ask you open ended questions (not "yes" or "no" answer) like; In your view, how do couples traditionally in Ghana take financial decisions at home, How do (did) you take such decisions, here in Canada, generally and specifically about the child benefits?

Voluntary participation:

- Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary.
- You can decide to stop at any time, even part-way through the interview for whatever reason,
- If you decide to stop I will ask you how you would like me to handle the data collected up to that point. This include returning it to you, destroying it or using the data collected up to that point
- After an interview you have until approximately 15 June 2014 if you do not want me to use the information you shared during the interview
- If you decide to stop participating, there will be no consequences to you.
- If you do not want to answer some of the questions you do not have to, but you can still skip that question and continue with the interview.
- If you have any questions about this study or would like more information you can call or email Nana at awuahgnb@mcmaster.ca or (647) 887 8605.

Are there any risks to doing this study?

The risks involved in participating in this study are very minimal, if anything at all. Some people may feel uncomfortable or uneasy talking about their marriage or an unpleasant experience. The good thing is that you do not need to answer questions that you do not want to answer or that make you feel uncomfortable. Also, you can withdraw (stop taking part) at any time.

Who will know what you said or did in the study? Your participation in this study is strictly confidential. I will not use your name or any information that would allow you to be identified. I will be using pseudo names like Kwaku Atta, Kofi Asomasi, Yaw Obeten, Efo Mawuko, Afeto Gameli, Oblanu Nii, Tseko Tei, Awotse Tettey etc to identify everyone who participates so that nobody, including myself will ever know you participated.

The information you provide (my notes during the interview) will be kept in a locked desk/cabinet where only I will have access to it. Information kept on a computer will be protected by a password. Once the study is complete, an archive of the data, without identifying information, will be maintained

Benefits:

There are no direct benefits to you but you will be contributing to potentially influencing the Child benefits policy. I also hope that the knowledge gained as a result of this study will help Social Workers to better understand Ghanaian immigrants when working on issues around Child benefits.

This study has been reviewed and cleared by the McMaster Research Ethics Board. If you have concerns or questions about your rights as a participant or about the way the study is conducted, you may contact:

McMaster Research Ethics Board Secretariat
Telephone: (905) 525-9140 ext. 23142
c/o Research Office for Administration, Development & Support (Fig. 1997)

c/o Research Office for Administration, Development & Support (ROADS)

E-mail: <u>ethicsoffice@mcmaster.ca</u>

I may not be able to afford giving a full copy of the work but I would be pleased to send you a short summary of the study results if you wish to have it. Please let me know if you would like a summary and what would be the best way to get this to you.

Consent questions:

- Do you have any questions or would like any additional details?
- Do you agree to participate in this study knowing that you can withdraw at any point with no consequences to you?

```
[If yes, begin the interview.]
[If no, thank the participant for his/her time.]
```



DATE: 5 March 2014

APPENDIX E? LETTER OF INFORMATION / CONSENT

Canada Child Benefits and Family Tensions: Insights from Ghanaian Immigrants in Hamilton

Student Investigator:Faculty Supervisor:Nana Baffour Awuah-GyauProf. Mirna E. Carranza (PhD)School of Social WorkSchool of Social Work

McMaster University McMaster University

Hamilton Hamilton

(647) 887-8605 (905) 525-9140 ext. 23789

E-mail: awuahgnb@mcmaster.ca E-mail: carranz@mcmaster.ca

Purpose of the Study This study seeks to discover the experiences of immigrant Ghanaian men with child benefits. It aims at understanding the nature and sources of tensions/conflicts in families and marriages that arise as a result of child benefits and how Canadian culture has impacted on Ghanaian immigrants' views of gender roles at home. It particularly attempts to bring to the fore the evolving gender roles among Ghanaian immigrants in Canada. I am undertaking this research for a thesis as part of the requirements for a Master of Social Work degree at McMaster University, Hamilton.

What will be your role? If you decide to participate, you will be involved in a one-on-one interview (in Twi or English) that will take approximately an hour and will be arranged at a time and location that is convenient for you.

The interview will be audiotaped and I will take notes with your permission. I will ask you openended questions (not "yes" or "no" answer) like: "In your view, how do couples in Ghana traditionally take financial decisions?" "How do (did) you generally take financial decisions in your family, here in Canada, and specifically about child benefits?

Are there any risks in participating in this study? The risks involved in participating in this study are minimal. Some of the questions may raise issues that you worry or feel strongly about. You can skip any question you would prefer not to answer and can stop the interview at any time. You may also worry about how others will react to what you say. The steps I am taking to protect your privacy are discussed below.

Potential Benefits: There are no direct benefits to you but your views may potentially influence the child benefits policy. The knowledge gained as a result of your experience may also help Social Workers to better understand immigrants when working on issues around child benefits.

Who will know what I said or did in the study? Your participation in this study is strictly confidential. I will not use your name or any information that identifies you. I will be using pseudo names like Kwaku Atta, Kofi Asomasi, Yaw Obeten, Efo Mawuko, Afeto Gameli, Oblanu Nii, Tseko Tei, Awotse Tetey etc to identify everyone who participates so that nobody will ever know you participated. However, we are often identifiable in the stories we tell and the references we make. Please keep this in mind through the interview.

The information you provide (audio records and my notes during the interview) will be kept in a locked desk/cabinet where no one has access to apart from me. Information kept on a computer will be protected by a password and encrypted. Once the study is complete, an archive of the data, without identifying information that links it to you, will be maintained for a period of five years after which time it will be destroyed.

What if you change your mind about participating in the study? Your participation in this study is voluntary so you can withdraw at any time without any consequences. During the interview you can refuse to answer any question you are not comfortable with. In case you withdraw, any data you have provided will be destroyed unless you indicate otherwise.

After having an interview you can withdraw from this study up until approximately 15 June 2014 by which time I will be close to concluding and submitting my thesis.

How do I find out what was learnt in this study?

If you would like a brief summary of the results, please let me know how you would like it sent to you.

Questions about the Study

If you have questions or need more information about the study itself, please contact me at: awuahgnb@mcmaster.ca or 647 887 8605

This study has been reviewed by the McMaster University Research Ethics Board and received ethics clearance.

If you have concerns or questions about your rights as a participant or about the way the study is conducted, please contact:

McMaster Research Ethics Secretariat Telephone: (905) 525-9140 ext. 23142

c/o Research Office for Administrative Development and Support

E-mail: ethicsoffice@mcmaster.ca

CONSENT

- I have read the information presented in the information letter about a study being conducted by Nana B. Awuah-Gyau, of McMaster University.
- I have had the opportunity to ask questions about my involvement in this study and to receive additional details I requested.
- I understand that if I agree to participate in this study, I may withdraw from the study at any time or up until approximately **15 June 2014** if I do not want the information I gave to be used for the research.
- I have been given a copy of this form.
- I agree to participate in the study.

Signature:	
Name of Participant (Printed)	
 I agree that the interview can be audio recorded. Yes. No. 	
2Yes, I would like to receive a summary of the study's results. Please send them to this email address Or to this mailing address:	
No, I do not want to receive a summary of the study's results.	